



SPONSOR: Sen. Simpson & Rep. Kenton
Reps. Postles, Wilson

DELAWARE STATE SENATE
149th GENERAL ASSEMBLY

SENATE BILL NO. 82

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CHARTER OF THE CITY OF MILFORD.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE (Two-thirds of all members elected to each house thereof concurring therein):

1 **ARTICLE I. - INCORPORATION, TERRITORY AND ANNEXATION**

2 1.01 - Incorporation.

3 The inhabitants of the City of Milford ("the City") within the corporate limits hereinafter defined in this Charter or
4 as hereafter extended as hereinafter provided, shall be and constitute a body politic and corporate, and shall be known and
5 identified as the City of Milford.

6 1.02 - Territorial Limits.

7 The boundaries of the City of Milford are hereby established and declared as recorded on the official map of
8 record in the Recorder of Deeds Offices for Kent County and for Sussex County in the State of Delaware (official recorded
9 copies to be kept by the City Clerk) as presently exists and as hereinafter amended:

10 In addition to the aforesaid, the Territorial Limits of the City of Milford shall also include all lands annexed by the
11 City of Milford pursuant to Section 1.04 of this Charter. The City Council may, at any time hereafter, cause a survey and
12 plot to be made of the City, and the survey and plot, when made and approved by the City Council, shall be recorded in the
13 offices of the Recorders of Deeds in and for both Kent and Sussex Counties, State of Delaware, and the same, or the record
14 thereof, or a duly certified copy of said record shall be evidence in all courts of law and equity in this State.

15 1.03 - Wards.

16 The City of Milford shall be divided into four wards and a map entitled "Official Ward Map, Milford, Delaware"
17 will delineate the ward boundaries with legal descriptions of each ward attached and kept on file in the Office of the City
18 Clerk. The official ward map shall be identified by the signature of the Mayor, be attested by the City Clerk and bear the
19 seal of the City. The map, legal descriptions and any future changes shall be recorded in both Kent and Sussex County
20 within a reasonable time after the effective date of the amendment approved by City Council. City Council shall adopt the
21 official map and any future amendments by ordinance.

22 The City Council may provide for a fifth Ward and re-arrange the boundaries of the four Wards provided for
23 herein, in the event of annexation or re-apportionment as hereinafter set forth.

24 1.04 - Annexation

25 The City may from time to time extend its boundaries through the process of annexation in accordance with the
26 Delaware Code and the following procedures shall apply:

27 (a) All the property owners of the territory contiguous to the then existing corporate limits and territory of the City
28 of Milford, by written Petition with the signature of each such Petitioner duly witnessed, may request the City Council to
29 annex that certain territory in which they own property.

30 (1) The petition presented to the City Council shall include the tax parcel number(s), a description of the
31 territory requested to be annexed in electronic format, a sealed survey (dated within ~~one~~ 1 year of the ~~application~~
32 petition), present and requested zoning, a statement of compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and the reasons
33 for the requested annexation.

34 (2) ~~If the Planning Director deems the application complete, the Mayor of the City of Milford shall~~
35 ~~appoint a Committee comprised of not less than three (3) of the elected members of the City Council and one~~
36 ~~member of the City Planning Commission to investigate the possibility of annexation. Not later than ninety (90)~~
37 ~~days following its appointment by the Mayor, as aforesaid, the Committee shall submit a written report containing~~
38 ~~its findings and conclusions to the Mayor and City Council of Milford. The report so submitted shall include the~~
39 ~~advantages and disadvantages of the proposed annexation, both to the City of Milford and to the territory proposed~~
40 ~~to be annexed, and shall contain the recommendation of the Committee whether or not to proceed with the~~
41 ~~proposed annexation and the reasons therefore.~~

42 If the Planning Director deems the petition complete, the petition shall be provided to the Mayor and City
43 Council to be referred to the Annexation Committee. If the Annexation Committee is not duly constituted, the
44 Mayor of the City of Milford shall appoint a Committee composed of not less than 3 of the elected members of the
45 City Council and one member of the City Planning Commission to investigate the possibility of annexation. Not
46 later than 90 days following referral of the petition to the Annexation Committee by the City Council the
47 Committee shall submit a written report containing its findings and conclusions to the Mayor and City Council of
48 Milford. The report so submitted shall include the advantages and disadvantages of the proposed annexation, both
49 to the City of Milford and to the territory proposed to be annexed, and shall contain the recommendation of the
50 Committee whether or not to proceed with the proposed annexation and the reasons therefore, as well as a
51 recommended zoning district for the property to be annexed.

52 (3) A Plan of Services for the property must be completed in accordance with Delaware Code. This Plan
53 of Services must be completed for review and acceptance by all necessary agencies prior to final legislative action
54 on the annexation.

55 (4) ~~The annexation/rezoning application shall also be referred to the Planning Commission for a Public~~
56 ~~Hearing and review and recommendation to City Council.~~

57 The annexation petition and zoning application shall also be referred to the Planning Commission for a
58 Public Hearing and review and recommendation to City Council. Within ~~sixty (60)~~ 60 days of the final
59 recommendation by the Planning Commission, City Council shall hold a public hearing to consider the annexation
60 petition and zoning application.

61 (5) Following the public hearing on the proposed annexation petition and subject to the acceptance of the
62 Plan of Services, City Council may then ~~pass a resolution~~ adopt an ordinance annexing such territory to the City of
63 Milford. Such ~~resolution~~ ordinance shall be passed by the affirmative vote of ~~two-thirds (2/3)~~ 2/3 of all the elected
64 members of the City Council. If the ~~resolution-ordinance~~ fails to receive the affirmative vote of ~~two-thirds (2/3)~~
65 2/3 of the elected members of the City Council, the territory proposed to be annexed shall not again be considered
66 for annexation for a period of ~~six (6)~~ 6 months from the date that the resolution failed to receive the required
67 affirmative vote. The concurrent zoning application shall be considered for adoption by City Council in
68 accordance with the provisions set forth hereafter and in this Charter and the Code of the City of Milford.

69 (6) ~~Prior to the resolution being considered, an ordinance that is conditioned on the approval of the~~
70 ~~annexation application must be adopted to establish a zoning district for the property to be annexed.~~ The public
71 notice of the annexation ordinance shall contain a description of the territory proposed to be annexed, requested
72 zoning and shall fix a time and place for a public hearing on the subject of the proposed annexation and zoning.
73 The public notice of the annexation ordinance shall be published in a newspaper having a general circulation in the
74 City of Milford at least 1 week prior to the date set for the public hearing, or, at the discretion of the City Council,
75 the said notice shall be posted in 2 public places both in the City of Milford and in the territory proposed to be
76 annexed and the City website.

77 (7) If the ~~resolution~~ ordinance receives a favorable vote for annexation, the City Council shall cause a
78 description and a plot of the territory so annexed to be recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds in and for
79 ~~Kent or Sussex County~~ the county in which the property is located, but in no event, shall said recordation be
80 completed more than ~~ninety (90)~~ 90 days following the date of the favorable vote for annexation by the City
81 Council. The territory considered for annexation shall be considered to be a part of the City of Milford from the

82 time of recordation. The failure to record the description of the plot within a specified time shall not make the
83 annexation invalid, but such annexation shall be deemed to be effective at the expiration of the ~~ninety (90)~~ 90 day
84 period from the date of the favorable vote of the City Council.

85 (b) If ~~five (5)~~ 5 or more property owners, but less than all of the property owners of a territory contiguous to the
86 then limits and territory of the City of Milford, by written Petition with the signature of each such Petitioner duly witnessed,
87 shall request the City Council to annex that certain territory in which they own property.

88 (1) ~~The petition presented to the City Council shall include the tax parcel number(s), a description of the~~
89 ~~territory requested to be annexed in electronic format, a sealed survey (dated within one year of the application),~~
90 ~~present and requested zoning, a statement of compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and the reasons for the~~
91 ~~requested annexation.~~

92 (2) ~~If the Planning Director deems the application complete, the Mayor of the City of Milford shall~~
93 ~~appoint a Committee composed of not less than three (3) of the elected members of the City Council and one~~
94 ~~member of the City Planning Commission to investigate the possibility of annexation. Not later than ninety (90)~~
95 ~~days following its appointment by the Mayor, the Committee shall submit a written report containing its findings~~
96 ~~and conclusions to the Mayor and the City Council of Milford. The report so submitted shall include the~~
97 ~~advantages and disadvantages of the proposed annexation, both to the City of Milford and to the territory proposed~~
98 ~~to be annexed, and shall contain the recommendation of the committee whether or not to proceed with the~~
99 ~~proposed annexation and the reasons therefore.~~

100 (3) ~~A Plan of Services for the property must be completed in accordance with Delaware Code. This Plan~~
101 ~~of Services must be completed for review and acceptance prior to final legislative action on the annexation.~~

102 (4) ~~The annexation/rezoning application shall also be referred to the Planning Commission for a Public~~
103 ~~Hearing and review and recommendation to City Council.~~

104 (5) ~~Within sixty (60) days of the recommendation by the Planning Commission, a resolution shall then be~~
105 ~~considered by City Council proposing to the property owners and residents of both the City of Milford and the~~
106 ~~territory proposed to be annexed that the City proposes to annex certain territory to its then limits and territory.~~
107 ~~Said resolution shall be passed by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the elected members of the City~~
108 ~~Council. The resolution shall contain a description of the territory proposed to be annexed, requested zoning and~~
109 ~~shall fix a time and place for a public hearing on the subject of the proposed annexation and zoning. The resolution~~
110 ~~shall be printed in a newspaper having a general circulation in the City of Milford at least one (1) week prior to the~~

111 date set for the public hearing, or, at the discretion of the City Council, the said resolution shall be posted in four
112 (4) public places both in the City of Milford and in the territory proposed to be annexed.

113 (6) ~~The resolution proposing to the property owners and residents of both the City and the territory~~
114 ~~proposed to be annexed shall be passed by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the elected members of the~~
115 ~~City Council. If the resolution shall fail to receive the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the elected members~~
116 ~~of the City Council, the territory proposed to be annexed shall not again be considered for annexation for a period~~
117 ~~of six (6) months from the date that the resolution failed to receive the required affirmative vote.~~

118 (7) ~~Within sixty (60) days following the public hearing, and upon the acceptance of the Plan of Services~~
119 ~~by the State of Delaware, the City Council may pass a resolution annexing such territory to the City of Milford,~~
120 ~~subject to the approval of the property owners in the territory to be annexed. Said approval or disapproval shall be~~
121 ~~signified at a Special Election as set forth hereinafter. The resolution of the City Council to annex the territory~~
122 ~~must be passed by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of all the elected members of the City Council.~~

123 (1) The procedure for consideration of a petition under Section 1.04(b) of this Charter shall be the same
124 as the procedure under Section 1.04(1)(1 through 7), unless otherwise stated.

125 (2) The ordinance adopted under the procedures of Section 1.04 (a) (1 through 7) of this Charter
126 applicable to petitions filed under Section 1.04(b) shall be subject to the approval of the property owners in the
127 territory to be annexed. Said approval or disapproval shall be signified at a Special Election as set forth hereafter.

128 (8) (3) ~~In the event that the resolution~~ the ordinance for annexation does not receive an affirmative vote
129 by ~~two-thirds (2/3)~~ 2/3 of all the elected members of the City Council, no Special Election shall be held and the
130 territory previously proposed to be annexed shall not again be considered for annexation for a period of ~~six (6)~~ 6
131 months from the date the ~~resolution~~ ordinance failed to receive the required affirmative vote.

132 (9) (4) Following the affirmative vote but in no event later than ~~thirty (30)~~ 30 days after said ~~resolution~~
133 ordinance has been ~~approved,~~ adopted, the City Council shall order a Special Election to be held not less than
134 ~~thirty (30)~~ 30 nor more than ~~sixty (60)~~ 60 days after said affirmative ~~resolution has been passed on the proposed~~
135 ~~resolution.~~ ordinance was adopted by City Council.

136 (40) (5) The notice of the time and place of the said Special Election shall be ~~printed~~ published within
137 ~~thirty (30)~~ 30 days immediately preceding the date of this Special Election in at least ~~two (2)~~ 2 issues of a
138 newspaper having a general circulation in the City of Milford, or, at the discretion of the City Council, the said
139 notice may be posted in ~~four (4)~~ 2 public places, ~~both~~ in the City of Milford, ~~and~~ in the territory proposed to be

140 ~~annexed~~ annexed, and on the City website at least ~~fifteen (15)~~ 15 days prior to the date set forth for the said
141 Special Election.

142 ~~(11) (6)~~ At the Special Election, ~~every property owner, whether an individual, partnership or a~~
143 ~~corporation~~ each person who has an ownership interest in a property in the territory proposed to be annexed shall
144 have ~~one (1)~~ 1 vote and every partnership, corporation, company, or other legally created artificial entity in the
145 territory proposed to be annexed which has an ownership interest in a property in the territory proposed to be
146 annexed shall have 1 vote. Property held by a partnership or by a corporation shall vote only by a power of
147 ~~attorney~~ attorney, corporate resolution, or authorization affidavit duly executed. In the event that an individual
148 holds a Power of Attorney or corporate resolution duly executed and acknowledged, specifically authorizing the
149 said individual to vote ~~for the owner of a property held by~~ on behalf of a partnership or by a corporation at the said
150 Special Election, before that person votes, a duly authenticated Power of ~~Attorney~~ Attorney or corporate
151 resolution, shall be filed in the Office of the City Manager of the City of Milford. Said Power of Attorney or
152 corporate resolution so filed shall constitute conclusive evidence of the right of said person to vote in the Special
153 Election for such partnership or for such corporation. Property ~~owners~~ owners, individuals, or entities in the area
154 proposed to be annexed shall have only ~~one~~ 1 vote regardless of the number of parcels owned.

155 ~~(12) (7)~~ The City Council of the City of Milford may cause either voting machines or paper ballots to be
156 used in the Special Election, the form of the ballot to be printed as follows:

157 [] For the proposed ~~annexation~~ annexation.

158 [] Against the proposed ~~annexation~~ annexation.

159 ~~(13) (8)~~ The Mayor of the City of Milford shall appoint ~~three (3)~~ 3 persons to act as a Board of Special
160 Election. One ~~(1)~~ of the said persons so appointed shall be designated as the Presiding Officer. Voting shall be
161 conducted in a public place as designated by the ~~resolution~~ ordinance calling the Special Election. The polling
162 place shall be open from ~~twelve noon, prevailing time, until eight o'clock in the evening, prevailing time,~~ 10:00
163 a.m. until 6:00 p.m. on the date set for the Special Election or until all those entitled to vote have done so. All
164 persons in the polling place at the time of the closing of the polls shall be permitted to vote, even though such
165 votes are not cast until after the time for the closing of the polls.

166 ~~(14) (9)~~ Immediately upon the closing of the polling place, the Board of Special Election shall count the
167 ballots for and against the proposed annexation and shall announce the result thereof. The Board of Special
168 Election shall make a Certificate under their hands of the votes cast for and against the proposed annexation and
169 the number of void votes and shall deliver the same to the City Council. Said Certificate shall be filed with the

170 papers of the City Council. In order for the territory proposed to be annexed to be considered annexed, a majority
171 of the votes cast from the territory proposed to be annexed must have been cast in favor of the proposed
172 annexation.

173 ~~(15)~~ (10) In the event that the Special Election results in an unfavorable vote for annexation, no part of
174 the territory considered at the Special Election for annexation shall again be considered for annexation for a period
175 of at least ~~one hundred eighty (180) days~~ 6 months from the date of the said Special Election.

176 ~~(16)~~ (11) If a favorable vote for annexation shall have been cast, the City Council of the City of Milford
177 shall cause a description and a plot of the territory so annexed to be recorded in the Office of the Recorder of
178 Deeds, in and for ~~Kent or Sussex County,~~ the county in which the property is located, but in no event shall said
179 recordation be completed more than ~~ninety (90)~~ 90 days following the date of the said Special Election. The
180 territory considered for annexation shall be considered to be part of the City of Milford from the time of
181 recordation. The failure to record the description or the plat within the specified time shall not make the
182 annexation invalid, but such annexation shall be deemed to be effective at the expiration of the ~~ninety (90)~~ 90 day
183 period from the date of the favorable Special Election.

184 (c) Annexation Agreement.

185 Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, where, pursuant to §1.04(a) or (b) of this Charter, annexation
186 proceedings are initiated by a property owner(s) holding record title to real property in territory contiguous to the then
187 existing corporate limits of the City, such petition may be made contingent upon an annexation agreement with the City
188 which agreement may address any matters which would be relevant to the subject lands, if annexed. By way of example
189 and not in limitation, such agreement may address zoning, subdivision approval, tax relief, public utilities and public
190 improvements. In the event the City Council approves such an agreement and votes to accept a petition under this §1.04 of
191 this Charter, such Annexation Agreement shall be deemed a material part of the annexation and shall be included in all
192 subsequent steps of the annexation procedure. City Council may vote to require the Annexation Agreement at any time
193 before adoption of the ordinance annexing the territory into the city.

194 The ~~resolutions~~ ordinances and notices adopted by the City Council shall recite that the proposed annexation
195 includes and is subject to an annexation agreement. The ~~resolution~~ ordinances and ballots, if an election is required,
196 annexing the territory shall recite that the annexation is subject to an annexation agreement and shall incorporate the terms
197 of such agreement by specific reference. An annexation agreement may be modified or amended by mutual agreement of
198 the petitioner and the City Council at any time prior to the ~~resolution~~ ordinance adopted by City Council annexing the land

199 into the City of ~~Milford~~ or prior to the resolution ordering the special election pursuant to §1.04 of this Charter. Milford. In
200 any event, the Annexation Agreement shall run with the land and be recorded with the annexation ~~resolution~~ ordinance.

201 (d) Property shall be designated to a contiguous ward(s) when annexed into the City pursuant to Article I.

202 1.05 - Deannexation.

203 (a) Except as provided for in Section 1.05(b), below, dexannexation shall follow procedures established in the
204 Delaware Code.

205 (b) The City Council may authorize the deannexation of either of the following:

206 (1) Property with zero residents and assessed valuation of less than \$25,000 by ordinance following a
207 public hearing.

208 (2) A parcel which contains less square footage than the smallest parcel in the zoning district in which it
209 is located.

210 **ARTICLE II. - NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS**

211 2.01 - City Elections.

212 (a) The annual municipal election shall be held on the fourth Saturday in the month of April between the hours of
213 ~~12 noon and 8:00 p.m~~ 10:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m at such places as shall be determined by the City Council and in accordance
214 with State law. Except that, in any year when the fourth Saturday in April falls between Good Friday and Easter Sunday,
215 the annual municipal election shall be held on the third Saturday of April.

216 (b) The election shall be held under the supervision of an Election Board, consisting of no less than ~~three~~ 3 nor
217 more than ~~five~~ 5 electors of the City to be appointed by the City Council. The Election Board shall be Judges of the election
218 and shall decide upon the legality of the votes offered.

219 (c) A clerk from each respective Ward will be assigned to verify the identity and residence of each prospective
220 voter within their election district that intends to vote on the day of the municipal election. The clerk shall obtain this
221 information from the alphabetical list of registered voters provided for this purpose. Those persons not properly registered
222 shall not be permitted to vote at that particular election and become eligible only after being qualified before the next
223 registration deadline. City Council shall appoint an election ~~clerk(s)~~ clerk for each Ward in which there is a contest.

224 (d) Every person who resides within the City of Milford boundaries for at least ~~thirty~~ (30) 30 days prior to the
225 registration deadline or natural persons owning property within the City of Milford at least ~~thirty~~ (30) 30 days prior to the
226 registration deadline, and who are over the age of ~~eighteen~~ (18) 18 years, shall be entitled to ~~one~~ 1 vote at said annual
227 municipal election or special election; provided, however, that the City Council may, by ordinance, establish a reasonable
228 procedure for the registration of voters and, in such event, compliance therewith may be a prerequisite to voting at the

229 annual election. A Corporation, Partnership, Limited Partnership or other legally created entity is prohibited from
230 registering and voting as a non-resident property owner unless property within the City is titled in an individual name.

231 (e) It is the responsibility of those registered voters who own property in more than ~~one~~ 1 Ward to declare at least
232 ~~sixty (60)~~ 60 days prior to the election which Ward they will vote in on the day of the election. In the event that a person
233 owns ~~property(s)~~ property in the City in addition to their place of residency, he or she may vote once only where he or she
234 resides.

235 (f) Upon the close of an annual municipal election or special election, the votes shall be counted and read
236 publicly. The person having the highest number of votes, for each office, shall be declared duly elected in accordance with
237 State law, and shall continue in office during the terms for which they are chosen, or until their successors are duly elected
238 and qualified.

239 (g) The Election Board shall enter in a book to be provided for that purpose, a minute of the election containing
240 the names of the persons chosen, shall subscribe the same, and shall give to the persons elected certificates of Election,
241 which book, containing such minutes, shall be preserved by the Council and shall be evidence in any Court of law or
242 equity. All ballots cast, in the event paper ballots are used, and all tabulations of votes from voting machines, if used at said
243 election, and all other records of election shall be preserved in the Custody of the City Clerk for a period of time as required
244 by State law.

245 (h) Any vacancy in the Election Board shall be filled by ~~the electors present at the time of the annual election, by~~
246 ~~naming from the electors present, such person or persons as shall be necessary to fill such vacancy.~~ City Council at a
247 Special Meeting prior to the election.

248 (i) In the event of a tie vote for any office, a Special Election for said ~~office(s)~~ office only shall be held within
249 ~~thirty (30)~~ 30 days and the registration books shall remain closed until the outcome of the Special Election is determined.

250 (j) Not less than ~~sixty (60)~~ 60 days prior to the Annual Election, all candidates for the office of City ~~Councilperson~~
251 Councilmember shall file with the City ~~Manager Clerk~~ a nominating petition, stating the name of the candidate, the office
252 for which he or she is nominated, and shall be signed by not less than ~~ten (10)~~ 10 registered voters in the Ward in the City
253 of Milford in which the candidate resides. Nominations for the Office of Mayor shall be filed with the City Manager not
254 less than ~~sixty (60)~~ 60 days prior to the Annual Election and shall contain the name of the candidate, the office for which he
255 or she is nominated and shall be signed by not less than ~~ten (10)~~ 10 registered voters in the City of Milford.

256 2.02 - Emergency election postponement; declaration.

257 After consultation with the City of Milford Board of Elections, the City Clerk of the City of Milford may issue a
258 declaration postponing the date of an election as the result of civil disorder, a natural disaster, a state of emergency or any

259 other catastrophic event. Once the declaration is issued, the affected election is postponed. The City Clerk shall promptly
260 set a date on which the postponed election will be held. The date of the postponed election shall not be later than ~~fourteen~~
261 14 calendar days after the original date of the election.

262 2.03 - Absentee Ballot Procedures.

263 Absentee voting in the City of Milford is in accordance with State law.

264 2.04 - Voting Machines for Local Office and Mayor and City Council Ballots.

265 (a) Voting machines for Mayor and City Council Elections. The City of Milford shall conduct all elections for
266 local office using voting machines that the Department of Election of the State of Delaware provides.

267 (b) Names on Ballots. The Department of Elections shall prepare the voting machines for the election of members
268 of a Municipal Government by listing the names of all certified candidates submitted by the municipality in alphabetical
269 order by last name without political party or other designation.

270 2.05 - Ballots for ~~Ordinances and Charter Amendments~~. Ordinances.

271 An ordinance ~~or Charter amendment to be voted on by the City~~ requiring a vote by eligible voters shall be
272 presented ~~for voting~~ by ballot title. The ballot title of a measure may differ from its legal title and shall be a clear, concise
273 statement describing the substance of the measure without argument or prejudice. Below the ballot title shall appear the
274 following question: "Shall the above described (ordinance) (amendment) be adopted?" Immediately below such question
275 shall appear, in the following order, the words "yes" and "no" and to the left of each a square in which by making a cross
276 (X) the voter may cast his vote.

277 2.06 - Voting Machines for Referenda and Annexation Elections.

278 The City Council may provide for the use of mechanical or other devices for voting or counting the votes not
279 inconsistent with law.

280 2.07 - Council Districts; Adjustment of Districts.

281 (a) Number of Districts. There shall ~~initially be four (4)~~ be 4 City Council districts to be known as Wards.

282 ~~(b) Districting Commission. The City Council shall comprise the districting commission.~~

283 ~~(c) Report; Specifications. By the first day of January of the second year following the decennial census, the~~
284 ~~districting commission~~ a Ward Districting Committee appointed by the Mayor pursuant to Section 3.07 of this Charter shall
285 file with the City Clerk a report containing a recommended plan for adjustment of the Council district boundaries to comply
286 with these specifications:

287 (1) Each district shall be formed of compact, contiguous territory, ~~as nearly rectangular as possible~~, and
288 its boundary lines shall follow the center lines of streets or other natural boundaries or survey lines as required.

289 (2) Each district shall contain as nearly as possible the same number of qualified voters and Districts shall
290 not differ in population by more than ~~ten (10) percent~~ 10% of the population in the smallest district created. The
291 report shall include a map and description of the districts recommended and shall be drafted as a proposed
292 ordinance. Once filed with the Clerk, the report shall be treated as an ordinance introduced by a Council member.

293 ~~(d)~~ (c) Procedure. The procedure for the Council's consideration of the report shall be the same as for other
294 ordinances, provided that the summary, including both the map and descriptions of the recommended districts, must be
295 published in ~~two~~ 2 newspapers of general circulation in the City of Milford and on the City website, no less than ~~one~~ 1
296 month prior to its adoption.

297 ~~(e) The Commission may, but is not required to, establish five Wards instead of four, with two Councilpersons to~~
298 ~~be elected from each Ward.~~

299 ~~(f)~~ (d) Enact Ordinance. The Council shall adopt the ordinance at least ~~six~~ 6 months before the next regular City
300 election.

301 ~~(g)~~ (e) Effect of Enactment. The new Council districts and boundaries, as of the date of enactment, shall supersede
302 previous Council districts and boundaries for all the purposes of the next regular City election, including nominations. The
303 new districts and boundaries shall supersede previous districts and boundaries for all other purposes as of the date on which
304 all ~~Councilpersons~~ Councilmembers elected at the regular City election take office.

305 **ARTICLE III. - POWERS OF THE CITY - COUNCIL AND MAYOR**

306 3.01 - Enumerated Powers.

307 The City of Milford shall have all powers possible for a city to have under the constitution and laws of this State as
308 fully and completely as though they are specifically enumerated in this Charter. Without limiting the scope of the foregoing
309 provision, the City is specifically empowered as follows:

310 (a) The City shall have the power to acquire lands, tenements, real property or interests therein by condemnation
311 or by purchase for the purpose of providing sites for public buildings, parks, sewers, sewage disposal or electric plants or
312 the erection or construction of lines or conduits for the transmission of electricity, water, ~~gas, or gas,~~ sewerage, public
313 utility of any nature, or for any other municipal purpose, whether within or without the limits of the City, and the procedure
314 therefore shall be as contained in the ~~Revised Code of Delaware 1953, as amended~~ Delaware Code and shall have the
315 power to dispose of real property by Ordinance. The City of Milford may ~~transmit electric, gas and/or water from the plant~~
316 ~~or plants owned and operated by said City~~ own and operate public utilities and public services to places or properties
317 beyond the limits of said City and upon such terms, charges and conditions that the Council may determine and approve.

318 (b) The City Council is vested with authority on behalf of the City to enter into contracts for the rendering of
319 personal service to the City ~~and/or~~ and the purchase of supplies and doing of work for any municipal purpose for the City.
320 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, public competitive bidding shall not be required under any of the
321 following circumstances:

322 (1) A contract for any service to be rendered by the State of Delaware or any political subdivision thereof.

323 (2) A contract for professional services.

324 (3) A contract which is less than ~~Thirty (\$30,000)~~ \$50,000. Such a contract shall not be for a portion of a
325 project or proposal that would otherwise require bidding. The aggregate amount shall not exceed ~~Thirty (\$30,000)~~
326 \$50,000.

327 (c) The contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder, but City Council may reject any ~~and/or~~ or all
328 bids for any cause by it deemed advantageous to the City.

329 (d) All ~~formal~~ contracts approved by the City Council shall be signed by the Mayor with the Seal of the City
330 attached and attested by the City Clerk. The City Manager is authorized to execute all other contracts and agreements for
331 the City of Milford.

332 (e) The City Council shall have the power and authority to anticipate revenue by borrowing upon the faith and
333 credit of the City of Milford in accordance with the provision of Article VIII of this Charter.

334 (f) The City Council shall have the authority to establish and maintain a pension system for employees of the City
335 of Milford, to be paid to such employees, or dependents, in such amounts, at such times, and in accordance with such rules
336 and regulations as the City Council shall from time to time resolve or decree.

337 (g) Notwithstanding any of the provisions of Section 3.01 and without complying with the competitive bidding
338 procedures described herein, the City of Milford may enter into any contract necessary or desired in connection with a TIF
339 District or a special development district created or designated by the City of Milford pursuant to Article IX of this Charter
340 except a contract in which the City of Milford is directly contracting for the procurement of the labor or material for public
341 improvements for the benefit of such district, provided that the foregoing exception shall not apply to development or
342 similar type contracts between the City of Milford and an owner of real property in such district when the contract is
343 generally for the transfer by the owner to the City of Milford of the work performed and the cost of labor or material
344 provided by such owner for the benefit of such district.

345 (h) The City Council shall have the authority to enter into public private partnerships.

346 (i) The City Council may provide for the organization of a fire department and the control and government thereof,
347 establish fire limits and do all things necessary for the prevention or extinguishment of fires; and, in their discretion,

348 contribute, donate or give such amounts of money as they may deem appropriate unto any Volunteer Fire Company or
349 Companies incorporated under the laws of Delaware, or any firefighting equipment and providing service to the City;
350 provided that any such contribution, donation or gift may be made subject to such conditions and stipulations as to the use
351 thereof as the City Council shall deem advisable.

352 3.02 - Construction.

353 The powers of the City under this Charter shall be construed liberally in favor of the City, and the specific mention of
354 particular powers of the Charter shall not be construed as limiting in any way the general power stated in this article.

355 3.03 - Intergovernmental Relations.

356 The City may exercise any of its powers or perform any of its functions and may participate in the financing
357 thereof, jointly or in cooperation, by contract or otherwise, with anyone or more states or civil divisions or agencies thereof
358 or the United States of America ~~of~~ or any agency thereof.

359 3.04 - Notice of Action.

360 No action, suit or proceeding shall be brought or maintained against the City of Milford, the Mayor or the City
361 Council of the City of Milford for damages on account of physical injuries, death or injury to property by reason of the
362 negligence of the City of Milford or any of its departments, offices, agents or employees thereof.

363 ~~3.04~~ 3.05 - Investigations.

364 The City Council may make investigations into the affairs of the City and the conduct of any City Department,
365 office or agency and for this purpose may subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony and require the production
366 of evidence. Any person who fails or refuses to obey a lawful order issued in the exercise of these powers by the ~~council~~
367 City Council shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not more than ~~\$500.00~~, \$500, or by imprisonment
368 for not more than ~~ten (10)~~ 10 days, or both.

369 ~~3.05~~ 3.06 - Independent Audit.

370 The City Council shall provide for an independent annual audit of all City accounts and may provide for such
371 more frequent audits as it deems necessary. Such audits shall be made by a certified public accountant or firm of such
372 accountants who have no personal interest, direct or indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the City government or any of its
373 officers. The City Council shall, without requiring competitive bids, designate such accountant or firm annually or for a
374 period not exceeding ~~three years, provided that the designation for any particular fiscal year shall be made no later than 30~~
375 ~~days after the beginning of such fiscal year.~~ 3 years. If the State makes such an audit, the Council may accept it as
376 satisfying the requirements of this Section. City Council must review and accept each annual audit.

377 ~~3.06~~ 3.07 - Mayor - General Powers.

378 The Mayor shall be the executive of the City and shall preside at meetings of the City Council, but shall have no
379 vote except in case of a tie. The Mayor shall execute on behalf of the City all agreements, contracts, bonds, deeds, leases
380 and other documents authorized by City Council necessary to be executed subject to Section 3.01(d) herein. The Mayor or
381 his/her designee shall countersign all orders, checks and warrants authorized by City Council; and shall have all and every
382 power conferred and perform the duties imposed upon ~~him~~ him/her by this Charter and the ordinances of the City. The
383 Mayor may ~~appoint such committees~~ establish such committees, appoint committee members, and designate the committee
384 Chairs as he or she deems necessary for the proper administration of City Council.

385 ~~3.07~~ 3.08 - Vice Mayor.

386 At the annual organizational meeting, the Council shall also elect by a majority vote of the entire City Council a
387 Vice-Mayor who shall act as Mayor during the temporary absence or inability of the Mayor, and while so acting, shall be
388 vested with all the powers and authority of the Mayor. ~~The Vice Mayor shall qualify as a Councilperson while acting as~~
389 ~~Mayor for the purpose of establishing a quorum. The Vice Mayor shall qualify as a City Councilmember while acting as~~
390 Mayor for the purpose of establishing a quorum and shall be able to vote as a City Councilmember.

391 ~~3.08~~ 3.09 - General Powers and Duties.

392 All powers of the City shall be vested in the City Council, except as otherwise provided by law or this Charter and
393 the City Council shall provide for the exercise thereof and for the performance of all duties and obligations imposed on the
394 City by law.

395 **ARTICLE IV. – CITY COUNCIL GOVERNMENT - COMPOSITION, QUALIFICATIONS, VACANCIES AND**
396 **PROCEDURE**

397 4.01 - Composition of Government.

398 The government of the city and the exercise of all powers conferred by this charter except as otherwise provided
399 herein, shall be vested in an elective body called the City Council, consisting of a Mayor and ~~eight (8)~~ 8 Councilpersons
400 Councilmembers. Whenever the word "Mayor" is used, it shall refer solely to the Mayor. Whenever the word "Council" is
401 ~~used~~ it words "City Council" are used they shall refer to the eight (8) Councilpersons 8 duly-elected or appointed
402 Councilmembers. The government of the City of Milford and the exercise of all powers conferred by this Charter, except as
403 otherwise provided herein shall be vested in a Mayor and a City Council. The City Council shall consist of not more than
404 ~~ten (10)~~ 8 members. Two of the members of the City Council shall reside in that portion of the City known and described as
405 the First Ward, ~~two~~ 2 in that portion known as the Second Ward, ~~two (2)~~ 2 in that portion known as the Third Ward and ~~two~~
406 2 in that portion known as the Fourth Ward. ~~In the event a Fifth Ward is created, two members of City Council shall reside~~

407 in that portion of the City known and described as the Fifth Ward. The Mayor and ~~Councilpersons~~ City Councilmembers
408 shall each serve for a term of ~~two~~ 2 years.

409 4.02 - Annual Organizational Meeting.

410 At ~~seven o'clock (7:00)~~ 7:00 p.m. on the second Monday following the annual election, the Mayor and City
411 Council shall meet at the City Council Chamber and shall assume the duties of their offices after being first duly sworn or
412 affirmed to perform their duties with fidelity and in accordance with the Charter of the City.

413 4.03 - Compensation and Expenses.

414 The City Council may determine the annual salary of ~~Councilpersons~~ Councilmembers and the Mayor by
415 ordinance, but no ordinance increasing such salary shall become effective until the date of commencement of the terms of
416 ~~Councilpersons~~ Councilmembers elected at the next regular election, provided that such election follows the adoption of
417 such ordinance by at least ~~six~~ 6 months. ~~Councilpersons~~ Councilmembers and the Mayor shall receive their actual and
418 necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties of ~~office.~~ office, in accordance with a policy established by
419 City Council by Resolution.

420 4.04 - Prohibitions.

421 ~~(a) Except where authorized by law, no Mayor or Councilmembers Councilperson shall hold any other City office~~
422 ~~or employment during the term for which he or she was elected to the Office of Mayor or City Council, and no former~~
423 ~~Mayor or Councilmembers Councilperson shall hold any compensated appointive City office or employment until two (2)~~
424 ~~years or more after the expiration of the term of office for which he or she was elected.~~

425 (a) No person who has served as a City employee, officer or elected official shall represent or otherwise assist any
426 private enterprise on any matter involving the City, for a period of 2 years after termination of employment, appointed
427 status or end of elected term, if the person had rendered an opinion, conducted an investigation, was in a position to directly
428 or indirectly be materially responsible of such matter, or was eligible to vote on such matter in the course of his or her
429 official duties as a City employee, officer or elected official. Nor shall such former City employee, officer or elected
430 official disclose confidential information gained by reason of public position nor shall the person otherwise use such
431 information for personal gain or benefit.

432 (b) Appointments and removals. Neither the Mayor or Council Mayor, City Council nor any of its members shall
433 in any manner dictate the appointment or removal of any City administrative officers or employees whom the Police Chief
434 or City Manager or any of his or her subordinates are empowered to appoint, but the Mayor or City Council may express its
435 views and fully and freely discuss with the City Manager or Police Chief anything pertaining to appointment and removal
436 of such officers and employees.

437 (c) Interference with Administration. Except for the purposes of inquiries and investigations under Section 4.08,
438 the Mayor or City Council or its members shall deal with ~~City officers and employees~~ officers, employees, or independent
439 contractors who are subject to the direction and supervision of the City Manager solely through the City Manager, and
440 neither the Mayor or City Council nor its members shall give orders to any such ~~officer or employee~~ officer, employee, or
441 independent contractor, either publicly or privately. Likewise, the Mayor or City Council or its members shall deal with
442 Police officers, employees or independent contractors who are subject to the direction and supervision of the Police Chief
443 solely through the Police Chief, and neither the Mayor or City Council nor its members shall give orders to any such
444 officer, employee or independent contractor, either publicly or privately.

445 4.05 - Vacancies, Forfeiture of Office; Filling of Vacancies.

446 (a) Vacancies.

447 (1) The Office of the Mayor shall become vacant upon death, ~~resignation~~ resignation, forfeiture, or
448 removal from office in any manner authorized by law, or ceases to be a lawfully registered voter of the City and a
449 resident of the City and the vacancy is confirmed by City Council.

450 (2) The Office of a ~~Councilperson~~ Councilmember shall become vacant upon death, ~~resignation~~
451 resignation, forfeiture, or removal from office in any manner authorized by law, or ceases to be a lawfully
452 registered voter of the City and a resident of the Ward in which he/she resided at the time of the election and the
453 vacancy is confirmed by City Council.

454 (b) Forfeiture of Office. ~~A Councilperson~~ The Mayor or a Councilmember shall forfeit his or her office if he or
455 she (1) lacks at any time during his or her term of office any qualification for the office prescribed by this Charter or by
456 law, (2) violates any express prohibition of this Charter, or (3) is convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude.

457 (c) Filling of Vacancies. If a vacancy occurs in the City Council and the remainder of the unexpired term is ~~less~~
458 more than three (3) 12 months, the vacancy shall be filled ~~in the next general~~ by a special election. If a vacancy occurs in
459 the City Council and the remainder of the unexpired term is less than ~~six (6) months but more than three (3) months,~~ 12
460 months, the City Council may shall within 45 days of the vacancy ~~occurring,~~ being confirmed, by a majority vote of all of
461 its remaining members, appoint a qualified person to fill the vacancy until the person elected at the next regular election
462 takes office. ~~If at the time a vacancy occurs the remainder of the unexpired term is six (6) months or greater than six (6)~~
463 ~~months, the election authorities shall call a special election to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term.~~ The
464 special election shall be held ~~not sooner than twenty (20) days nor later than thirty (30) days~~ in accordance with State
465 election laws following the occurrence of the ~~vacancy and shall be otherwise governed by the provisions of Article VII.~~
466 vacancy. Notwithstanding the requirement that a quorum of the City Council consists of ~~five~~ 5 members, if at any time the

467 membership of the City Council is reduced to less than ~~five~~, 5, the remaining members may, by majority action, appoint
468 additional members to raise the membership to ~~five~~. 5.

469 4.06 - Qualification for Mayor and City Council.

470 (a) No person shall be eligible for election as Mayor unless he or she is a citizen of the United States of America, a
471 bona fide resident of the City of Milford and has continuously resided therein for a period of ~~two (2)~~ 2 years preceding the
472 day of the election, is over the age of ~~eighteen (18)~~ 18 years prior to the day of the election, has not been convicted of a
473 felony, submits a criminal background check of the person's entire criminal history record from the State Bureau of
474 Identification, and is nominated therefore, as hereinafter provided.

475 (b) No person shall be eligible for election as a City Council member unless he or she is a citizen of the United
476 States of America, a bona fide resident of the Ward in the City of Milford where they are seeking election and has
477 continuously resided therein for a period of one year preceding the day of the election, is over the age of ~~eighteen (18)~~ 18
478 years prior to the day of the election, has not been convicted of a felony, submits a criminal background check of the
479 person's entire criminal history record from the State Bureau of Identification, and is nominated therefore, as hereinafter
480 provided.

481 (c) The Mayor shall be eligible to serve in such elected office unless he or she does not continue to be a resident of
482 the City during his or her respective ~~term(s)~~ term of office nor shall any member of City Council be eligible to serve in such
483 elected office unless they continue to be a resident of their Ward during their respective terms of office.

484 (d) If a Council member files and runs for Mayor, and is elected before his or her Council term has expired, the
485 elected Mayor's City Council seat shall be considered vacant when the elected Mayor is sworn in on the second Monday
486 following the date of the election.

487 4.07 - Judge of Qualifications.

488 The City Council shall be the judge of the election and qualifications of its members and of the grounds for
489 forfeiture of their office and for that purpose shall have power to subpoena witnesses, administer oaths and require the
490 production of evidence. A member charged with conduct constituting grounds for forfeiture of office shall be entitled to a
491 public hearing on demand, and notice of such hearing shall be published in one or more newspapers of general circulation
492 in the City at least ~~one~~ 1 week in advance of the hearing. Decisions made by the City Council under this Section shall be
493 subject to review by the Superior Court.

494 4.08 - Procedure.

495 (a) Meetings. The City Council shall meet regularly at least once in every month at such times and places as the
496 City Council may prescribe by rule. Special meetings may be held in compliance with State law and may be on the call of

497 the Mayor or of ~~four~~ 4 or more members. All meetings shall be public; however, the City Council may recess for the
498 purpose of discussing in a closed or executive session ~~limited to its own membership any matters~~ as permitted by State
499 Law.

500 (b) Rules and Journal. The City Council shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall provide for
501 keeping a journal of its proceedings. This journal shall be a public record. Unless or until other rules are adopted, the City
502 Council shall follow Roberts Rules of Order and parliamentary procedure.

503 (c) Voting. Voting, except on procedural motions, shall be by roll call, and the ayes and nays shall be recorded in
504 the journal or by voice vote at the option of the Mayor unless otherwise required by State law. Five members of the City
505 Council shall constitute a quorum, but a smaller number may adjourn from time to time and may compel the attendance of
506 absent members in the manner and subject to the penalties prescribed by the rules of the City Council. No action of the City
507 Council, except as otherwise provided in the preceding sentence and in Section 4.05(c), shall be valid or binding unless
508 adopted by the affirmative vote of ~~four~~ 4 or more members of the City Council.

509 4.09 - Action Requiring an Ordinance.

510 The City Council is hereby vested with the authority to enact ordinances or resolutions (~~resolution includes actions~~
511 ~~taken upon motion whether by roll call or voice vote and whether or not the Resolution has been prepared as a writing~~)
512 relating to any subject within the powers and functions of the City, or relating to the government of the City, its peace and
513 order, its sanitation, beauty, health, safety, convenience and property, and to fix, impose and enforce the payment of fines
514 and penalties for the violation of such ordinances or resolutions, and no provision of this Charter as to ordinances on any
515 particular subject shall be held to be restrictive of the power to enact ordinances or resolutions on any subject not
516 specifically enumerated. For purposes of this paragraph, resolutions shall include actions by City Council taken in
517 accordance with this Charter.

518 In addition to other acts required by State law or by specific provision of this Charter to be done by ordinance,
519 those acts of the City Council which shall be by ordinance are as follows:

520 (a) Adopt or amend an administrative code or establish, alter or abolish any City department, office or ~~agency~~;
521 agency.

522 (b) Provide for a fine or other penalty or establish a rule or regulation for violation of which a fine or other penalty
523 is ~~imposed~~; imposed.

524 (c) Levy taxes, except as otherwise provided in Article X with respect to the property tax levied by adoption of the
525 ~~budget~~; budget.

526 (d) Grant, renew or extend a ~~franchise~~; franchise.

- 527 (e) Regulate the rate charged for its services ~~by a municipal utility;~~ or as a public utility.
- 528 (f) Authorize the borrowing of ~~money;~~money.
- 529 (g) Sell or lease or authorize the sale or lease of any asset of the City if its value is equal to or greater than 1/5 of
- 530 1% of the assessed value of all real property within the corporate ~~limits.~~ limits.
- 531 (h) Amend or repeal any ordinance previously ~~adopted;~~ and adopted.
- 532 (i) Change of zone or conditional use of land.
- 533 Acts other than those referred to in the preceding may be done either by ordinance or by resolution.

534 4.10 - Ordinances in General.

535 (a) Form. Every proposed ordinance shall be introduced in writing and in the form required for final adoption. No

536 ordinance shall contain more than one subject which shall be clearly expressed in its title. The enacting clause shall be "The

537 City of Milford hereby ~~ordains . . .~~" ordains". Any ordinance which repeals or amends an existing ordinance or part of the

538 City Code shall set out in full the ordinance sections or subsections to be repealed or amended and shall indicate the matter

539 to be omitted by enclosing it in brackets or by strikeout type and shall indicate new matter by underscoring or by italics.

540 (b) Procedure. An ordinance may be introduced by the Mayor, any member of City Council or the City Manager at

541 any regular or special meeting of the City Council in accordance with City Council Rules established by Resolution. Upon

542 introduction of any ordinance, the City Clerk shall distribute a copy to the Mayor, each Councilmember and to the City

543 Manager. An ordinance shall be placed on the agenda for introduction and for adoption by title; the introduction and the

544 adoption may not be on the same meeting date. As soon as practicable after adoption of any ordinance, the Clerk shall have

545 it published together with a notice of its adoption.

546 (c) Effective Date. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter, every adopted ordinance shall become effective at

547 the expiration of ~~ten (10)~~ 10 days after ~~adoption or adoption,~~ at any later date specified therein, or as provided by State law.

548 (d) "Publish" Defined. As used in this section, the term "publish" means to ~~print-publish~~ in one 1 or more

549 newspapers of general circulation in the City and on the City website:

- 550 (1) A brief summary of the Ordinance, and
- 551 (2) The places where complete copies of it have been filed and the times when they are available for
- 552 public inspection.

553 4.11 - Emergency Ordinances.

554 To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, property property, public safety, or the public peace, the City

555 Council may adopt ~~one 1~~ one 1 or more emergency ordinances, but such ordinances may not levy taxes, grant, renew or extend a

556 franchise, regulate the rate charged by any public utility for its services or authorize the borrowing of money except as

557 provided in subsection 6.09(b). An emergency ordinance shall be introduced in the form and manner prescribed for
558 ordinances generally, except that it shall be plainly designated as an emergency ordinance and shall contain, after the
559 enacting clause, a declaration stating that an emergency exists and describing it in clear and specific terms. An emergency
560 ordinance may be adopted with or without amendment or rejected at the meeting at which it is introduced, but the
561 affirmative vote of at least ~~five~~ 5 members shall be required for adoption. After its adoption, the ordinance shall be
562 published and printed as prescribed for other adopted ordinances. It shall become effective upon adoption or at such later
563 time as it may specify. Every emergency ordinance, except one made pursuant to Subsection 6.09(b), shall automatically
564 stand repealed as of the ~~64th~~ sixty-first day following the date on which it was adopted, but this shall not prevent re-
565 enactment of the ordinance in the manner specified in this section if the emergency still exists. An emergency ordinance
566 may also be repealed by adoption of a repealing ordinance in the same manner specified in this section for adoption of
567 emergency ordinances.

568 4.12 - Codes of Technical Regulation.

569 (a) The City Council may adopt any standard code of technical regulations by reference thereto in an adopting
570 ordinance. The procedure and requirements governing such an adopting ordinance shall be as prescribed for ordinances
571 generally except that:

572 (b) The requirements of Section 4.10 for distribution and filing of copies of the ordinance shall be construed to
573 include copies of the code of technical regulations as well as of the adopting ordinance, and

574 (c) A copy of each adopted code of technical regulations, as well as the adopting ordinance, shall be authenticated
575 and recorded by the City Clerk pursuant to Subsection 4.13(a).

576 (d) Copies of any adopted code of technical regulations shall be made available by the City Clerk for distribution
577 or for purchase at a reasonable price.

578 4.13 - Authentication and Recording, Codification Printing.

579 (a) Authentication and Recording. The City Clerk shall authenticate by his or her signature and record in full in a
580 properly indexed book kept for the purpose all ordinances and resolutions adopted by the Council.

581 (b) Codification. The City Council shall provide for the continual preparation of a general codification of all City
582 ordinances and resolutions having the force and effect of law. The general codification shall be adopted by the City Council
583 by ordinance and shall be published promptly in bound or loose-leaf form, together with this Charter and any amendments
584 thereto, pertinent provisions of the Constitution and other laws of the State of Delaware, and such codes of technical
585 regulations and other rules and regulations as the City Council may specify. The compilation shall be known and cited
586 officially as the Code of the City of Milford. Copies of the Code may be furnished to City officers, placed in libraries and

587 public offices for free public ~~reference~~ reference, provided online accessible through the City website, and made available
588 for purchase by the public at a reasonable price fixed by the City Council.

589 (c) Printing of Ordinances and Resolutions. The City Council shall cause each ordinance and resolution having the
590 force and effect of law and each amendment to this Charter to be printed promptly following its adoption, and the printed
591 ordinances, resolutions and Charter amendments shall be distributed or sold to the public at reasonable prices to be fixed by
592 the City Council. Following publication of the first Code of the City of Milford and at all times thereafter, the ordinances,
593 resolutions and Charter amendments shall be printed in substantially the same style as the Code currently in effect and shall
594 be suitable in form for integration therein. The City Council shall make such further arrangements as it deems desirable
595 with respect to reproductions and distribution of any current changes in or additions to the provisions of the Constitution
596 and other laws of the State of Delaware, or the codes of technical regulations and other rules and regulations included in the
597 Code.

598 4.13 - Code of Ethics

599 The Mayor and City Council shall develop, adopt, and adhere to a Code of Ethics applying to elected officials and
600 to City employees in general.

601 **ARTICLE V. - ADMINISTRATION AND APPOINTEES**

602 5.01 - Form of Government.

603 The form of government established by this charter shall be known as the "City Council-Manager" form.

604 5.02 - City Manager - Appointment; Qualifications and Compensation.

605 The City Council shall appoint a City Manager for an indefinite term. He or she need not be a resident of the City
606 or state at the time of his appointment but may reside outside the City while in office only with the approval of the City
607 Council. The City Council may enter into an employment contract with the City Manager. An employment contract with a
608 City Manager shall be in writing and shall specify the conditions of employment.

609 5.03 - City Manager - Removal.

610 The City Council shall remove the City Manager from office in accordance with the following procedures and
611 those conditions contained in the City Manager's employment contract:

612 (a) The City Council shall adopt by affirmative vote of a majority of all of its members a preliminary resolution
613 which must state the reasons for removal and may suspend the City Manager from duty for a period not to exceed 45 days.
614 A copy of the resolution shall be delivered promptly to the City Manager.

615 (b) Within ~~five~~ 5 days after a copy of the resolution is delivered to the City Manager, he or she may file with the
616 City Council a written request for a public hearing or Executive Session at the choice of the City Manager. This hearing

617 shall be held at a City Council meeting not earlier than ~~fifteen (15)~~ 15 days nor later than ~~thirty (30)~~ 30 days after the
618 request is filed. The City Manager may file with the City Council a written reply not later than ~~five (5)~~ 5 days before the
619 hearing.

620 (c) The City Council may adopt a final resolution of removal, which may be effective immediately, by affirmative
621 vote of a majority of all its members at any time after ~~five (5)~~ 5 days from the date when a copy of the preliminary
622 resolution was delivered to the City Manager, if he or she has not requested a public hearing or Executive Session, or at any
623 time after the public hearing or Executive Session, if he or she has requested one. The City Manager shall continue to
624 receive his or her salary until the effective date of a final resolution of removal.

625 5.04 - Acting City Manager.

626 By ~~letter~~ notice filed with the City Clerk, the City Manager shall designate, subject to the approval of the City
627 Council, a qualified City administrative officer to exercise the powers and perform the duties of City Manager during his or
628 her temporary absence or disability. During such absence or disability, the City Council may revoke such designation at any
629 time and appoint another officer of the City to serve until the City Manager shall return or his or her disability shall cease.

630 5.05 - Powers and Duties of the City Manager.

631 The City Manager shall be the chief administrative officer of the City. He or she shall be responsible to the City
632 Council for the administration of all City affairs placed in his or her charge or under this Charter. He or she shall have the
633 following powers and duties:

634 (a) He or she shall appoint, and when he or she deems it necessary for the good of the ~~service~~ City, suspend or
635 remove City employees and appointive administrative officers provided for by or under this Charter, except as otherwise
636 provided by law, this Charter or personnel rules adopted pursuant to this Charter. He or she may authorize any
637 administrative officer, who is subject to his or her direction and supervision, to exercise these powers with respect to
638 subordinates in that officer's department, office or agency.

639 (b) He or she shall direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices and agencies of the City,
640 except as otherwise provided by this Charter or by law.

641 (c) He or she shall attend all City Council meetings and shall have the right to take part in discussion but may not
642 vote.

643 (d) He or she shall see that all laws, provisions of this Charter and acts of the City Council, subject to enforcement
644 by him or her or by officers, subject to his or her direction and supervision, are faithfully executed.

645 (e) He or she shall prepare and submit the annual budget and capital program to the City Council.

646 (f) He or she shall submit to the City Council and make available to the public a complete report on the finances
647 and administrative activities of the City as of the end of each fiscal year.

648 (g) He or she shall make such other reports as the City Council may require concerning the operations of City
649 departments, offices and agencies subject to his or her direction and supervision.

650 (h) He or she shall keep the City Council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the City
651 and make such recommendations to the Council concerning the affairs of the City as he or she deems desirable.

652 (i) He or she shall perform such other duties as are specified in this Charter or may be required by the City
653 Council.

654 5.06 - City Clerk - Appointment and Duties.

655 The City Council shall appoint an officer of the City who shall have the title of City Clerk. The City Clerk shall
656 give notice of City Council meetings to its members and the public, maintain a permanent record of all City Council
657 proceedings and documents, manage the City's elections, act as the custodian of the City Seal, affixing it to all documents,
658 records, contracts and agreements requiring a seal and attesting to same by signature and perform other duties as are
659 assigned to him or her by this Charter or by the City Council.

660 5.07 - City Solicitor.

661 At the Annual organization meeting, the City Council shall appoint a City Solicitor who shall be removable at the
662 pleasure of the City Council either with or without due cause as stated. It shall be his, her or its duty to give legal advice to
663 the City Council and other officers of the City and to perform other legal services as may be required by the City of
664 Milford. The City Solicitor ~~may~~ must be an individual licensed to practice law in the State of Delaware or may be a
665 Delaware law firm any member of which can perform the duties of the City Solicitor.

666 5.08 - Police Department.

667 The City Council shall appoint a Chief of Police for an indefinite term and fix his or her compensation. The terms
668 of his or her employment shall be contained in an employment contract.

669 (a) It shall be the duty of the City Council to appoint a Chief of the City Milford Police Department. ~~and such~~
670 ~~number of subordinates as the Council may deem wise.~~ The City Council shall, from time to time, make rules and
671 regulations (which may be proposed by the Chief of Police) as may be necessary for the organization, government and
672 control of the Police ~~Force~~ Department. The police shall preserve peace and order, and shall ~~compel obedience~~ enforce
673 within the City limits the ordinances of the City and the laws of the State; and they shall have such other duties as the City
674 Council shall from time to time prescribe. ~~After the initial Chief of City Police and the initial subordinates are appointed in~~

675 accordance with the terms of this Charter, thereafter, any subsequent Chiefs of Police shall be appointed by the City
676 Council, but any subsequent subordinates shall be hired or fired by the then Chief of Police.

677 (b) Each member of the Police Force police officer shall be vested, within the City limits and ~~within one mile~~
678 ~~outside of said limits, as permitted by State law,~~ with all the powers and authority of a state peace officer, and in the case of
679 the pursuit of an offender, their power and authority shall extend to any part of the State of Delaware.

680 (c) The Chief of Police shall be responsible to City Council and shall be removed from office in accordance with
681 the provisions of State law. ~~law and the following procedures:~~

682 (1) ~~The Council shall adopt by affirmative vote of a majority of all of its members a preliminary~~
683 ~~resolution which must state the reasons for removal and may suspend the Chief of Police from duty for a period~~
684 ~~not to exceed 45 days. A copy of the resolution shall be delivered promptly to the Chief of Police.~~

685 (2) ~~Within five (5) days after a copy of the resolution is delivered to the Chief of Police, he may file with~~
686 ~~the Council a written request for a public hearing. This hearing shall be held at a Council meeting not earlier than~~
687 ~~fifteen (15) days nor later than thirty (30) days after the request is filed. The Chief of Police may file with the~~
688 ~~Council a written reply not later than five (5) days before the hearing.~~

689 (3) ~~The Council may adopt a final resolution of removal, which may be made effective immediately, by~~
690 ~~affirmative vote of a majority of all its members at any time after five (5) days from the date when a copy of the~~
691 ~~preliminary resolution was delivered to the Chief of Police, if he has not requested a public hearing, or at any time~~
692 ~~after the public hearing if he has requested one.~~

693 (4) ~~The Chief of Police shall continue to receive his salary until the effective date of a final resolution of~~
694 ~~removal.~~

695 (5) ~~By letter filed with the City Clerk, the Chief of Police shall designate, subject to approval of the~~
696 ~~Council, a qualified police officer to exercise the powers and perform the duties of the Chief of Police during his~~
697 ~~temporary absence or disability. During such absence or disability, the Council may revoke such designation at~~
698 ~~any time and appoint another officer of the City to serve until the Chief of Police shall return or his disability shall~~
699 ~~cease.~~

700 (d) The Chief of Police shall:

701 (1) Administer, direct and supervise the operation of the police department.

702 (2) Prepare ~~and submit~~ an annual budget and capital program in conjunction with the City Manager. This
703 shall then be placed by the City Manager into the Annual Budget and Capital Program for City Council approval.

704 (3) Attend all City Council Meetings and shall have the right to participate in any discussion of police
705 concern, but shall have no vote.

706 5.09 - City Holding Cells.

707 The City Council may maintain a holding cell for the City, which shall be used as a place for the temporary
708 detention of persons accused of violations of law or ordinances for a reasonable time, in cases of necessity, prior to
709 transport to a detention facility, hearing and trial or arraignment.

710 5.10 – City Alderman.

711 (a) ~~At the next regular meeting following the Annual Organization Meeting, the Council may appoint an Alderman
712 and an Acting Alderman.~~

713 (b) ~~The Alderman may or may not be a resident of the City of Milford and shall have his office at some convenient
714 place within the limits of the City of Milford, as designated by City Council. He or she shall be sworn or affirmed to
715 perform the duties of his office with fidelity by the Mayor. In the event of his absence from the City or, if for any cause he
716 or she may be unable to perform the duties of his office, the Council is authorized to appoint an Acting Alderman with the
717 same powers, jurisdiction and authority.~~

718 (c) ~~He or she shall have jurisdiction over and cognizance of all breaches of the peace and other violations of the
719 ordinances of the City of Milford, to hold trial, to imprison offenders, and to impose and enforce fines, forfeitures and
720 penalties as may be prescribed by the ordinances of the City.~~

721 (d) ~~He or she shall be under the direct supervision of the City Manager. The prison in either Kent or Sussex
722 County may be used for the imprisonment of offenders under the provisions of this Charter.~~

723 (e) ~~Upon the expiration of his term of office, or upon resignation or removal from office, the Alderman shall
724 forthwith deliver to his successor all books, papers, documents and other things belonging or appertaining to his office, and
725 shall pay over to the Treasurer all moneys in his hands belonging to the City. Upon neglect or failure to make such delivery
726 or payment for the space of five (5) days, he shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall be fined
727 not more than Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00), or imprisoned for not more than one (1) year, or shall suffer both fine and
728 imprisonment at the discretion of the Superior Court.~~

729 (f) ~~At every regular monthly meeting of the Council, the Alderman shall report in writing all fines imposed by
730 him, and all fines and penalties and other money received by him during the preceding month belonging to the City. He
731 shall pay all such moneys to the City within ten (10) days after making report to the Council, or for failure to make payment
732 to the City for the space of ten (10) days, he shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be punished, upon
733 conviction, as herein above provided.~~

734 (g) ~~The Alderman shall keep a docket in which all his official acts shall be entered.~~

735 (h) ~~The Acting Alderman may or may not be a resident of the City of Milford; shall keep a separate docket, and in~~
736 ~~the absence or inability of the Alderman shall have all the powers of the Alderman as herein provided.~~

737 ~~5.11~~ Finance Department

738 ~~There shall be a City Finance Department which shall be directed and supervised by an officer of the city who~~
739 ~~shall have the title of Finance Director. The Finance Director shall be appointed and supervised by the City Manager. The~~
740 ~~Finance Director shall have the duties of chief financial officer of the City of Milford, but may delegate such duties to~~
741 ~~subordinates under his direction. He or she shall pay out any monies upon check signed by two members of either Mayor or~~
742 ~~City Council or their designee. He or she shall keep a true accurate and detailed account of all monies received and all~~
743 ~~monies paid out by the city in all its activities and for all its departments, offices and agencies; shall preserve all vouchers~~
744 ~~and financial records, but under a records disposal program and schedule approved by the Council, may periodically~~
745 ~~destroy such records and vouchers. He or she shall make such reports at such times as the City Manager and Council shall~~
746 ~~direct and which will keep the Council, City Manager and the public informed of the financial condition of the city.~~

747 ~~5.11~~ 5.10- Finance Department.

748 ~~There shall be a City Finance Department which shall be directed and supervised by an officer of the city who~~
749 ~~shall have the title of Finance Director. The Finance Director shall be appointed and supervised by the City Manager. The~~
750 ~~Finance Director shall have the duties of chief financial officer of the City of Milford, but may delegate such duties to~~
751 ~~subordinates under his direction. He or she shall pay out any monies upon check signed by ~~two~~ 2 members of either Mayor~~
752 ~~or City Council or their designee. He or she shall keep a true accurate and detailed account of all monies received and all~~
753 ~~monies paid out by the city in all its activities and for all its departments, offices and agencies; shall preserve all vouchers~~
754 ~~and financial records, but under a records disposal program and schedule ~~approved by the Council,~~ consistent with State~~
755 ~~law, may periodically destroy such records and vouchers. He or she shall make such reports at such times as the City~~
756 ~~Manager and City Council shall direct and which will keep the City Council, City Manager and the public informed of the~~
757 ~~financial condition of the City.~~

758 ~~5.12~~ 5.11 - Planning Department.

759 ~~There shall be a planning department, which shall be directed and supervised by a ~~City Planner~~ Planning Director.~~
760 ~~The ~~City Planner~~ Planning Director shall be appointed, supervised and removed by the City Manager. The ~~City Planner~~~~
761 ~~Planning Director shall have the following responsibilities:~~

762 (a) To advise the City Manager on any matter affecting the physical development of the ~~city;~~ city.

763 (b) To formulate and recommend to the City Manager a comprehensive land use plan and modification ~~thereof~~;
764 thereof.

765 (c) To review and make recommendations regarding proposed actions of the City Council in implementing the
766 comprehensive development ~~plan~~; plan.

767 (d) To advise and seek advice from the planning commission in the exercise of his or her responsibilities and in
768 connection therewith, to provide it necessary staff ~~assistanc~~; assistance.

769 (e) To review and make recommendations regarding proposed actions of the City Council in ~~annexations~~;
770 annexations.

771 (f) To strive to give citizens the opportunity to have a meaningful impact on the development of ~~plans~~; plans.

772 (g) To protect the integrity of the natural environment and endeavor to conserve the heritage of the built
773 ~~environment~~; environment.

774 (h) Direction over the administration, management and enforcement of the City's building and nuisance codes.

775 (i) Such other duties as may be assigned.

776 ~~5.13~~ 5.12 - City Planning Commission

777 Pursuant to State law, there is hereby established a Planning Commission for the City of Milford. The City
778 Planning Commission shall consist of ~~nine (9) members~~ no less than 5 and no more than 9 members recommended by the
779 Mayor and appointed by City Council.

780 ~~5.14~~ 5.13- Board of Adjustment.

781 There shall be a Board of Adjustment pursuant to the provisions of the Delaware Code. The City Council shall, by
782 ordinance, establish a Board of Adjustment and shall provide for the adoption of standards and procedures for such Board
783 to hear and determine appeals from administrative decisions and petitions for variances in the case of peculiar and unusual
784 circumstances which may be required by the City Council or by law.

785 **ARTICLE VI. - FINANCIAL PROCEDURES**

786 6.01 - Fiscal Year.

787 The Fiscal year of the City shall be set by the City Council.

788 6.02 - Submission of Budget Date.

789 On or before the last day of the twelfth month of each fiscal year, the City Manager shall submit to the City
790 Council a budget for the ensuing fiscal year and an accompanying message.

791 6.03 - Budget Message.

792 The City Manager's message shall explain the budget both in fiscal terms and in terms of the work programs. It
793 shall outline the proposed financial policies of the City for the ensuing fiscal year, describe the important features of the
794 budget, indicate any major changes from the current year in financial policies, expenditures, and revenues together with the
795 reasons for such changes, summarize the City's debt position and include such other material as the ~~manager~~ City Manager
796 deems desirable.

797 6.04 - Operating Budget.

798 The budget shall provide a complete financial plan of all City funds and activities for the ensuing fiscal year and,
799 except as required by law or this Charter, shall be in such form as the City Manager deems desirable or the City Council
800 may require. In organizing the budget, the City Manager shall utilize the most feasible combination of expenditure
801 classification by fund, organization unit, program, purpose or activity, and object. It shall begin with a clear general
802 summary of its contents; shall show in detail all estimated income, indicating the proposed property tax levy, and all
803 proposed expenditures, including debt service, for the ensuing fiscal year; and shall be so arranged as to show comparative
804 figures for actual and estimated income and expenditures of the current fiscal year and actual income and expenditures of
805 the preceding fiscal year; and shall be so arranged as to show comparative figures for actual and estimated income and
806 expenditures of the current fiscal year and actual income and expenditures of the preceding fiscal year. It shall indicate in
807 separate sections:

808 (a) Proposed expenditures for current operations during the ensuing fiscal year, detailed by offices, departments
809 and agencies in terms of their respective work programs, and the method of financing such ~~expenditures~~; expenditures.

810 (b) Proposed capital expenditures during the ensuing fiscal year, detailed by offices, departments and agencies
811 when practicable, and the proposed method of financing each such capital ~~expenditure~~; expenditure.

812 (c) Anticipated net surplus or deficit for the ensuing fiscal year of each utility owned or operated by the City and
813 the proposed method of its disposition; subsidiary budgets for each such utility giving detailed income and expenditure
814 information shall be attached as appendices to the budget.

815 The total of proposed expenditures shall not exceed the total of estimated income.

816 6.05 - Capital Program.

817 (a) Submission to City Council. The City Manager shall prepare and submit to the City Council a ~~five-year~~ 5 year
818 capital program at the time the annual budget is submitted to City Council as defined in Section 6.02.

819 (b) Contents. The capital program shall include all of the following:

820 (1) A clear, general summary of its ~~contents~~; contents.

821 (2) A list of all capital improvements which are proposed to be undertaken during the ~~five~~ 5 fiscal years
822 next ensuing, with appropriate supporting information as to the necessity for such ~~improvements;~~ improvements.

823 (3) Cost estimates, method of financing and recommended time schedules for each such ~~improvement;~~
824 and improvement.

825 (4) The estimated annual cost of operating and maintaining the facilities to be constructed or acquired.

826 The above information may be revised and extended each year with regard to capital improvements still pending
827 or in process of construction or acquisition.

828 6.06 – City Council Action on Operating Budget.

829 The City Council shall adopt the operating budget on or before the last day of the ~~twelfth~~ 12th month of the fiscal
830 year currently ending. If it fails to adopt the budget by this date, the amounts appropriated for current operation for the
831 current fiscal year shall be deemed adopted for the ensuing fiscal year on a month-to-month basis, with all items in it
832 prorated accordingly, until such time as the City Council adopts an operating budget for the ensuing fiscal year. Adoption
833 of the budget shall constitute appropriations of the amounts specified therein as expenditures from the funds indicated and
834 shall constitute a levy of the property tax therein proposed.

835 6.07 – City Council Action on Capital Program.

836 ~~Adoption.~~ The City Council, by resolution, shall adopt the capital program with or without amendment on or before
837 the last day of the twelfth month of the current fiscal year.

838 6.08 - Public Records.

839 Copies of the budget and the capital program as adopted for the fiscal year are public records and shall be made
840 available to the public through the Freedom of Information Act and the City of Milford website.

841 6.09 - Amendments after Adoption.

842 (a) Supplemental Appropriations. If during the fiscal year the City Manager certifies that there are ~~available for~~
843 ~~appropriation~~ revenues in excess of those estimated in the budget and that they may be available for appropriation, the City
844 Council by ordinance may make ~~by~~ supplemental appropriations for the year up to the amount of such ~~excess.~~ additional
845 revenue.

846 (b) Emergency Appropriations. To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, property or the public peace, the
847 City Council may make emergency appropriations. Such appropriations may be made by emergency ordinance. To the
848 extent that there are no available un-appropriated revenues to meet such appropriations, the City Council may exercise short
849 term borrowing authority as provided in Section 8.07 of this Charter.

850 (c) Reduction of Appropriations. If at any time during the fiscal year it appears probable to the City Manager that
851 the revenues available will be insufficient to meet the amount appropriated, he shall report to the City Council without
852 delay, indicating the estimated amount of the deficit, any remedial action taken by him and his recommendations as to any
853 other steps to be taken. The City Council shall then take such further action as it deems necessary to prevent or minimize
854 any deficit and for that purpose it may by ordinance reduce one or more appropriations.

855 (d) Transfer of Appropriations. At any time during the fiscal year, the City Manager may transfer part or all of any
856 unencumbered appropriation balance among programs within a department, office or agency and, upon written request by
857 the City Manager, the City Council may by majority vote transfer part or all of any unencumbered appropriation balance
858 from one department, office or agency to another.

859 (e) Limitations: Effective Date. No appropriation for debt service may be reduced or transferred, and no
860 appropriation may be reduced below any amount required by law to be appropriated or by more than the amount of the
861 unencumbered balance thereof. The supplemental and emergency appropriations and reduction or transfer of appropriations
862 authorized by this section may be made effective immediately upon adoption.

863 6.10 - Lapse of Appropriations.

864 Every appropriation, except an appropriation for a capital expenditure, shall lapse at the close of the fiscal year to
865 the extent that it has not been expended or encumbered. An appropriation for a capital expenditure shall continue in force
866 until the purpose for which it was made has been accomplished or abandoned; the purpose of any such appropriation shall
867 be deemed abandoned if ~~three~~ 3 years pass without any disbursement from or encumbrance of the appropriation.

868 6.11 - Administration of Budget.

869 (a) Work Programs and Allotments. At such time as the City Manager shall specify, each department, office or
870 agency shall submit work programs for the ensuing fiscal year showing the requested allotments of its appropriation by
871 periods within the year. The City Manager shall review and authorize such allotments with or without revision as early as
872 possible in the fiscal year. He or she may revise such allotments during the year if they deem it desirable and shall revise
873 them to accord with any supplemental, emergency, reduced or transferred appropriations.

874 (b) Payments and Obligations Prohibited. No payment shall be made or obligation incurred against any allotment
875 or appropriation except in accordance with appropriations duly made and unless the City Manager or his/her designee first
876 certifies that there is a sufficient unencumbered balance in such allotment or appropriation and that sufficient funds ~~there~~
877 ~~from~~ therefrom are or will be available to cover the claim or meet the obligation when it becomes due and payable. Any
878 authorization of payment or incurring of obligation in violation of the provisions of this Charter shall be void and any
879 payment so made illegal; such action shall be cause for removal of any officer who knowingly authorized or made such

880 payment or incurred such obligation, and he or she shall also be liable to the City for any amount so paid. However, except
881 where prohibited by law, nothing in this Charter shall be construed to prevent the making or authorizing of payments or
882 making of contracts for capital improvements to be financed wholly or partly by the issuance of bonds or to prevent the
883 making of any contract or lease providing for payments beyond the end of the fiscal year, provided that such action is made
884 or approved by ordinance.

885 **ARTICLE VII. - TAXATION, ASSESSORS AND ASSESSMENT OF TAXES**

886 7.01 - General Assessment of Real Property.

887 ~~Not less frequently than every ten (10)~~ Every 10 years, there shall be made a general assessment which shall be a true, just
888 and impartial valuation and assessment of all the real property within the limits of the City.

889 7.02 - Supplemental Assessments.

890 It shall be the duty of the City Manager to include supplemental assessments prepared by ~~the assessor(s)~~ a certified
891 assessor for the purposes of adding property not included in the last assessment or increasing or decreasing the assessment
892 value of property which was included in the last general assessment. In the year that a ~~supplement~~ supplemental assessment
893 is made, the General Assessment then in force as modified by the supplemental assessment, shall constitute the assessment
894 for the year.

895 7.03 - Assessment Copies to City Council.

896 The City Manager shall make and deliver to the City Council, as soon as the assessments are made, such number
897 of copies as the City Council shall direct.

898 ~~7.04 The real property of the City Assessor(s) shall be assessed by the Council.~~

899 ~~7.05~~ 7.04 - Notification of Assessment.

900 The ~~Tax Assessor~~ City Manager or designee shall notify the property owner in writing of any change in
901 assessment.

902 ~~7.06~~ 7.05 - Public Notice.

903 The City Council shall, prior to a given date set by resolution in each year, cause a copy of the General
904 Assessment as adjusted by the supplemental assessment as made in said year, to be ~~hung posted~~ in two 2 public places in
905 the City, ~~and there to remain for the space ten (10) days for public information.~~ City for a period of 10 days. Attached to
906 said copies shall be a notice of the day, hour and place that the City Council will sit as a Board of Revision and Appeal; and
907 the notice of the ~~hanging up posting~~ of the copies of the assessment and the places where the same are ~~hung up~~ posted and
908 of the day, hour and place when the City Council will sit as a Board of Revision and Appeal shall be published on the City
909 website and in at least ~~one~~ 1 issue of a newspaper circulated in the City at least 10 days before the meeting.

910 ~~7.07.~~ 7.06 - Corrections and Revisions of Assessments.

911 At the time and place designated in the notice aforesaid, the City Council shall sit as a Board of Revision and
912 Appeal to correct and revise the assessment, and to hear appeals concerning the same. They shall have full power and
913 authority to alter, revise, add to and take from the said assessment. The decision of a majority of the City Council shall be
914 final and conclusive; and no member of City Council shall sit on his or her own appeal.

915 ~~7.08.~~ 7.07 - Revised Assessment.

916 The assessment, as revised and adjusted by the City Council, shall be the basis for the levy and collection of the
917 taxes for the City. If any ~~taxable~~ property owner fails or neglects to perfect his or her appeal to the Board of Revision and
918 Appeal, he or she shall be liable for the tax for such year as shown by the assessment lists.

919 ~~7.09.~~ 7.08 - Taxes on Utility Improvements.

920 The City Council shall also have the right to levy and collect taxes on ~~all underground cables installations, and~~
921 ~~upon all telephone, telegraph or power poles or other erections of like character erected or~~ any utility improvements
922 installed within the limits of the City, together with the wires and appliances thereto or thereon attached, that are now
923 assessable and taxable, and to this end, may at any time direct the same be included in or added to the City Assessment. In
924 case the owner or lessee of such ~~poles, erections, installations or appliances~~ utility improvements shall neglect or refuse to
925 pay the taxes that may be levied thereon, the said taxes may be collected by the City in the same manner as other taxes, and
926 upon continued non-payment, the City Council shall have the authority to cause the same to be removed.

927 ~~7.10~~ 7.09 - Determination of Rate of Taxation.

928 The City Council shall determine and fix a rate of taxation which with other anticipated revenue will produce
929 approximately the amount of money necessary to defray the expenses of the City for the current year, including interest on
930 bonded indebtedness and for redemption of maturing bonds and for maintenance of a sinking fund.

931 ~~7.11~~ 7.10 - Limit of Taxation.

932 The limit of taxation for current expenses shall be that rate which, by estimation, will produce a sum not exceeding
933 ~~two percent~~ 2% of the assessed value of real property with improvements located in the City.

934 ~~7.12~~ 7.11 - Taxes - Delinquencies.

935 (a) Not later than the second month of a new fiscal year, the City Manager shall make available to the City
936 Council a list containing the names of the ~~taxables of~~ owners of taxable properties within the City and, opposite the name of
937 each, the amount of ~~his~~ the real property assessment, as well as the tax upon the whole of ~~his~~ the assessment, and the rate
938 per ~~hundred dollars~~ \$100 of assessed valuation. Attached to a tax list shall be a warrant, under the seal of the City of

939 Milford, signed by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk commanding the City Manager to make collection, when due,
940 of the taxes as stated and set forth in the tax list.

941 (b) All taxes, when and as collected by the City Manager, shall be paid to or deposited to the credit of the City in
942 those banking institutions approved by City Council.

943 (c) All taxes shall be due and payable on the date set by City Council. To every tax not paid after the said date
944 each year there shall be added ~~and collected~~ a penalty, ~~for each month that the said tax remains unpaid. at a rate charged to~~
945 ~~be set by City Council through ordinance. The penalty rate charged is to be set by Council through ordinance. Before~~
946 ~~exercising any of the powers herein given for the collection of taxes, written notices of the amount due shall be given to the~~
947 ~~taxable.~~

948 (d) All taxes assessed upon any real estate and remaining unpaid prior to a new tax year billing shall constitute a
949 first lien against all real ~~estate~~ estate of the delinquent taxpayer situated within the limits of the City of ~~Milford. Milford for~~
950 a period of 10 years from July 1 of the year for which the taxes were levied, but if the real estate remains the property of the
951 person who was the owner at the time that it was assessed, then the lien shall continue until the tax is collected. In the case
952 of a life estate, the interest of the life tenant shall first be liable for the payment of any taxes so assessed. The City Manager,
953 in the name of the City of Milford, may institute suit before any ~~Justice of the Peace within Kent County or Sussex County,~~
954 ~~or before the Alderman of the said City, or in the Court of Common Pleas in and for Kent or Sussex County, or in the~~
955 ~~Superior Court of the~~ court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware, for the recovery of the unpaid tax in an
956 action of debt, and upon judgment obtained, may sue out writs of execution as in cases of other judgments recovered before
957 a Justice of the Peace or in the Court of Common Pleas or in the Superior Court as the case may be. within those courts.

958 (e) In addition, the City Manager, acting on behalf of the City, may pursue the sale of the lands and tenements of
959 the delinquent taxpayer, or the lands or tenements of a delinquent taxpayer alienated subsequent to the levy of the tax ~~and~~
960 ~~with the following conditions~~ by monition sale according to the same procedures and subject to the same rights, authority
961 and powers as are applicable to the Counties under Chapter 87 of Title 9 of the Delaware Code, as may later be amended,
962 replaced or relocated within the Delaware Code. Prior to commencing any action for the sale of lands and tenements, the
963 City shall send written notice to the assessed owner providing the total balance owed and language indicating a failure to
964 pay within 30 days may result in the commencement of legal proceedings for the sale of the assessed property.

965 (1) ~~No sale shall be approved by the Superior Court if the owner be ready at Court to pay the taxes,~~
966 ~~penalty and costs, and no deed shall be made until the expiration of one (1) year from the date of the sale,~~
967 ~~within which time the owner, his heirs, executors or assigns, shall have the power to redeem the lands on~~

968 payment to the purchase, his personal representatives, or assigns, of the costs, the amount of the purchase
969 money and twenty percent (20%) interest thereon and the expense of having the deed prepared.

970 (2) After satisfying the tax due and the costs of expenses of sale from the proceeds of sale, the
971 amount remaining shall be paid to the owner of the land, or upon the refusal of said owner to accept said
972 residue, or if the owner is unknown or cannot be found, the amount remaining shall be deposited in some
973 bank in the City of Milford, either to the credit of the owner, or in a manner by which the funds may be
974 identified.

975 (3) In the sale of lands for the payment of delinquent taxes, the following costs shall be allowed, to
976 be deducted from the proceeds of sale, or chargeable against the owner as the case may be in the amount then
977 customarily charged:

978 To the Prothonotary for filing and recording Petition

979 For filing and recording return of sale

980 To the City Manager for preparing certificate

981 For making sale of land

982 For preparing and filing return

983 For posting sale bills

984 In addition, the costs of printing handbills and publications of the advertisement of sale in a
985 newspaper shall be chargeable as costs. The cost of the deed shall not be chargeable as costs, but shall be
986 paid by the purchaser of the property of the delinquent taxpayer.

987 (4) If the owner of any lands and tenements against which a tax shall be levied and assessed shall be
988 unknown, this fact shall be stated in the advertisement of sale.

989 (f) In the event of the death, resignation or removal from office of the City Manager of the City of Milford,
990 before the proceedings of the sale of land shall have been completed, his successor in office shall succeed to have all
991 of his powers, rights and duties in respect to said sale. In the event of the death of the purchaser at such sale prior to
992 his receiving a deed for the property purchased thereat, the person having right under him by consent, devise,
993 assignment or otherwise may refer to the Superior Court of the State of Delaware in and for Kent or Sussex County, a
994 petition representing the facts and praying for an order authorizing and requiring the City Manager to have executed
995 and acknowledged a deed conveying to the Petitioner the premises sold, or a just proportion thereof; and thereupon
996 the Court may make such order touching the conveyance of the premises as shall be according to justice and equity.

997 (f) In addition to collection of fees and costs set forth in the Delaware Code, the City shall have the authority to
998 enact such ordinance as necessary to assure recovery of all expenses incurred by the City in collecting said judgment.

999 ~~(g) However, should the City Council so elect, the City Manager is empowered to sell the lands and~~
1000 ~~tenements of the delinquent taxpayer or the lands and tenements of a delinquent taxpayer alienated subsequent to the~~
1001 ~~levy of the tax, by the direction of the City Council, using any of those procedures specified for the sale of land for~~
1002 ~~the collection of taxes on the part of the taxes for Sussex County or Kent County, and all such procedures and~~
1003 ~~methods available for the sale of land, as aforesaid, as they are presently enacted and hereafter amended, are included~~
1004 ~~herein and made a part hereof by reference in the statutes made and provided, substituting the City of Milford for~~
1005 ~~Sussex County or Kent County therein.~~

1006 (g) In the event of the death, resignation or removal from office of the City Manager before the proceedings of the
1007 sale of land shall have been completed, his or her successor in office shall succeed to have all of his or her powers, rights
1008 and duties in respect to said sale.

1009 ~~(h) The provisions of this Section 7.12, other than the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section 7.12, shall~~
1010 ~~apply to all special ad valorem taxes and special taxes levied by the City of Milford pursuant to Article IX of this~~
1011 ~~Charter, provided that all references in this Section 7.12 to a tax list shall, for all purposes relating to such special ad~~
1012 ~~valorem taxes and special taxes, be deemed to refer to the tax list showing the amounts of special ad valorem taxes or~~
1013 ~~special taxes levied against the real property within a special development district.~~

1014 (h) There is hereby created a tax lien on any assessment or service charge levied by the City of Milford against a
1015 property as it relates to any utility service provided by the City of Milford, including any installation fees, connection fees,
1016 and service charges for maintenance or use thereof, and any amount expended by the City in order to complete any
1017 improvement, installation, razing, demolition, removal, or repair that is mandated by the City and where the assessed owner
1018 refuses or fails to comply, and any other fine, cost or assessment duly levied and authorized by this Charter, by ordinance or
1019 by State law. All such assessments and charges shall be collected in the same manner as real estate property taxes and
1020 subject to the same lien provisions provided under subsection (d) of this Section 7.11.

1021 (i) The provisions of this Section 7.11 shall apply to any charge levied by the City that would qualify as a lien
1022 under 25 Del.C. §2901(a)(1), as may be amended, and all special ad valorem taxes and special taxes levied by the City of
1023 Milford pursuant to Article IX of this Charter, provided that all references in this Section 7.11 to a tax list shall, for all
1024 purposes relating to such special ad valorem taxes and special taxes, be deemed to refer to the tax list showing the amounts
1025 of special ad valorem taxes or special taxes levied against the real property within a special development district.

1026 (j) In addition to any method of collection provided under this Section 7.11, the City Manager or representative
1027 appointed by the City Manager may pursue collection of any delinquent assessment or charge as may now or later be
1028 available under Delaware law.

1029 ~~7.13~~ 7.12 - Real Estate Transfer Tax

1030 The City of Milford reserves the right to enact a Real Estate Transfer Tax by ordinance through the City Council.
1031 Any change to the Real Estate Transfer Tax must be in accordance ~~to~~ with Delaware laws.

1032 ~~7.14~~ 7.13- Assessment, Payment, and Collection of Taxes for New Construction

1033 In the event that the Mayor and City Council of the City of Milford desire to collect and levy taxes on newly
1034 constructed property not taxed by virtue of the city's annual assessment, the city may enact an ordinance to do so.

1035 **ARTICLE VIII. - BORROWING OF MONEY AND ISSUANCE OF BONDS**

1036 8.01 - Bonds.

1037 The City of Milford may borrow ~~money~~ money, and to secure the payment of the same, is hereby authorized and
1038 empowered to issue bonds or other kinds or forms of certificate or certificates of indebtedness pledging the full faith and
1039 credit of the City of Milford; or such other security or securities as the City Council shall elect, for the payment of the
1040 principal thereof and the interest due thereon.

1041 All bonds or other kinds or forms of certificate or certificates of indebtedness issued by the City of Milford in
1042 pursuance hereof shall be exempt from all State, County or municipal taxes.

1043 8.02 - Purpose of Bonds.

1044 This power or authority to borrow money may be exercised by the City of Milford to provide funds for, or to
1045 provide for the payment of, any of the following projects or purposes:

1046 (a) Refunding any or all outstanding bonds or other indebtedness of the City at the maturity thereof or in
1047 accordance with any callable feature or provision contained ~~therein;~~ therein.

1048 (b) Meeting or defraying current annual operating expenses of the City in an amount equal to but not in excess of
1049 currently outstanding, due and unpaid taxes, water rents, license fees or other charges due the City and available, when
1050 paid, for meeting or defraying current annual operating expenses of the ~~City;~~ City.

1051 (c) Erecting, extending, enlarging, maintaining and repairing any plant, building, machinery or equipment for the
1052 manufacture, supplying or distribution of ~~gas, water, electricity, sewerage or drainage system, or any of them;~~ any public
1053 utility and the condemning or purchasing of any lands, easements and rights-of-way which may be required ~~therefore;~~
1054 therefore.

1055 (d) Constructing, paving, ~~laying out,~~ engineering, widening, extending, repairing and maintaining streets, lanes,
1056 alleys and ways, and the paving, constructing, ~~laying out,~~ engineering, widening, extending, repairing and maintaining of
1057 curbing and gutters along the same and the condemning or purchasing ~~of~~ of any lands, easements or rights-of-way which
1058 may be required ~~therefore;~~ therefore.

1059 (e) Any other purpose consistent with the promotion of health, ~~education~~ education, public safety, or the general
1060 welfare of the City of Milford.

1061 8.03 --Bonds or Certificates of Indebtedness - Resolutions.

1062 The power to borrow money and to secure the payment thereof by the issuance of bonds or other kinds or forms of
1063 certificate or certificates of indebtedness for any purpose above specified shall only exercise in the following manner:

1064 The City Council shall adopt a resolution proposing unto the electors of the City that money be borrowed by the
1065 City for any of the above-named purposes. The resolution proposing the borrowing shall plainly set forth the following
1066 matters:

1067 (a) The amount of money, or the amount of money not exceeding which, it is proposed shall be ~~borrowed;~~
1068 borrowed.

1069 (b) The rate of interest, or the rate of interest not exceeding which, it is proposed shall be ~~paid;~~ paid.

1070 (c) The manner in which it is proposed to be ~~secured;~~ secured.

1071 (d) The manner in which it is proposed that it shall be paid or funded, or ~~both;~~ both.

1072 (e) A short and clear description of the purpose or purposes for which the money or monies shall be used, and
1073 which description shall include the estimated cost of carrying out the purpose or purposes ~~aforesaid; and~~ aforesaid.

1074 (f) A statement of the time and place for a public hearing upon the resolution, whereat the City Council shall vote
1075 upon the final authorization for the loan.

1076 8.04 --Notice of Resolution.

1077 (a) It shall then be the duty of the City Council to give notice of the time and place of such public hearing upon the
1078 resolution by publishing a copy of the resolution aforesaid in at least ~~one~~ 1 issue of a newspaper published in the City of
1079 Milford at least ~~one~~ 1 week before the time fixed for said ~~hearing, and hearing,~~ by posting ~~copies thereof in five~~ on the City
1080 of Milford website and in 2 public places ~~throughout~~ in the said City at least ~~one~~ 1 week before the time fixed for said
1081 hearing.

1082 (b) At the time and place mentioned in such notice, the City Council shall sit in public session and at such public
1083 session, or an adjourned session thereof, shall vote upon a resolution giving its final authorization for the loan. If such
1084 resolution shall be adopted by the City Council, then the City Council shall pass a second resolution ordering and directing

1085 that a Special Election be held in the City of Milford not less than ~~thirty (30)~~ 30 days nor more than ~~sixty (60)~~ 60 days (as
1086 may be determined by the Council) after the date of the hearing and passage of the resolution authorizing the loan by the
1087 Council.

1088 (c) The purpose of such Special Election shall be to vote for or against the proposed loan.

1089 (d) The City Council shall give notice of the time and place for holding the said Special Election to all the
1090 electorate of the City of Milford by posting notices thereof in ~~five~~ 2 public places in said City at least ~~two~~ 2 weeks prior to
1091 the day fixed for the holding of such Special Election, and by publishing a copy of such notice once each week during those
1092 ~~two~~ 2 weeks immediately preceding that week during which the day fixed for the holding of such Special Election shall fall
1093 in a newspaper generally circulated in the City of ~~Milford~~. Milford in addition to the city website. Such notice of the
1094 Special Election shall likewise contain the same information with respect to the borrowing as required to be contained in
1095 the original resolution proposing the borrowing, excepting a statement of the time and place for a public hearing upon the
1096 resolution, whereat the City Council shall vote upon the final authorization for the loan.

1097 (e) The Special Election shall be conducted by an Election Board whose members shall be appointed or selected in
1098 the same manner and they shall have the same qualifications as hereinbefore provided in the case of annual elections of the
1099 City.

1100 (f) At such Special Election every person who would be entitled to vote at an annual election if held on that day
1101 shall be entitled to 1 vote. At least five days prior to the date of the Special Election, the City Council shall cause to be
1102 prepared, printed and have available for distribution, a sufficient number of ballots: upon one half of which ballot shall be
1103 printed the words "For the Proposed Borrowing" and upon the other half of said ballot shall be printed the words, "Against
1104 the Proposed Borrowing", and a box shall be provided after each and the voter instructed to place and "X" in the box
1105 provided after the choice he wishes to cast his vote. If voting machines are used, in which case, the voting machines shall
1106 be arranged in a manner consistent with the requirements for paper ballots.

1107 The Inspector of the Election shall deposit all ballots in the ballot box provided for that purpose in the presence of
1108 the person casting such ballot; he or she, the said Inspector, first writing upon the outside of said ballot the number of votes
1109 being cast thereby by the person casting such ballot, unless voting machines are used. Immediately upon the closing of the
1110 polls, the Special Election Board shall count the votes for and against the proposed borrowing and shall announce the result
1111 thereof, and shall make a certificate under their hands of the number of votes cast for and the number of votes cast against
1112 the proposed borrowing and shall deliver such Certificate, in duplicate, to the City Council. One copy of the Certificate the
1113 Council shall enter in the minutes of the next meeting of the City Council and the other copy thereof shall be filed with the
1114 papers of the City Council.

1115 (g) The ballot, either by voting machines or paper ballots, shall include a statement of the purpose for which the
1116 borrowing is being proposed and the maximum amount of the bonds to be issued. The vote will be in the following form:

1117 [] For the Proposed Borrowing.

1118 [] Against the Proposed Borrowing.

1119 (h) Absentee ballots shall be made available by the City Clerk within 5 days of the date of the adoption of the
1120 Resolution ordering the Special Election and distributed no later than 4:30 p.m. 2 days prior to the date of the Special
1121 Election. Completed absentee ballots received after that time shall not be counted.

1122 The City Clerk shall ensure delivery of the absentee ballots to the Election Board before the polls are opened on
1123 the Special Election Day.

1124 (i) Immediately upon the closing of the polls, the total votes cast by absentee ballot and the total votes cast for and
1125 against the borrowing on the Special Election Day shall be counted by the Special Election Board and the results
1126 announced. Two Certificates of Special Election shall be prepared and signed by at least 3 Special Election Board
1127 Members. One copy of the Certificate shall be entered into the minutes of the next meeting of City Council.

1128 (j) All election documents, including ballots and the Certificate of Special Election, are public records and
1129 available for inspection by the public in accordance with the Delaware Freedom of Information Act [Chapter 100 of Title
1130 29]. Said documents will be maintained in accordance with the retention and disposal schedules approved by Delaware
1131 Public Archives.

1132 8.05 - Payment of Bonds or Certificates of Indebtedness.

1133 (a) The form of the bonds or certificates of indebtedness and the thereunto attached coupons, if any, the time or
1134 times of payment, the time or times of payment of interest, the classes, the series, the maturity, the registration, any callable
1135 or redeemable feature, the denomination and the name thereof and any other relative or pertinent matters pertaining thereto
1136 shall all be determined by the City Council after the special election.

1137 (b) The bond or bonds or certificates of indebtedness shall be offered at public or private sale as determined by the
1138 City Council. All bonds or certificates of indebtedness forming a single issue need not be offered for sale at a single sale
1139 but any given issue of bonds or certificates of indebtedness authorized as hereinbefore provided may be sold in whole or in
1140 part, from time to time and until the entire authorized issue be disposed of, as the City Council may deem most advisable.

1141 (c) The City Council shall provide in its budget and in fixing of the rate of tax, or otherwise, for the payment of
1142 principal or such bond or bonds or certificate or certificates of indebtedness at the maturity thereof together with the interest
1143 due or which may hereafter become due thereupon and, in a proper case or as recommended by ~~bond~~ bond counsel, it shall
1144 also provide a sinking fund therefore.

1145 (d) Unless any such bond or bonds or certificate or certificates of indebtedness shall otherwise provide therein, the
1146 full faith and credit of the City of Milford shall be deemed to be pledged for the due payment of any such bond or bonds or
1147 certificate or certificate of indebtedness and interest thereon according to its terms when and after the same have been duly
1148 and properly executed, delivered and due value received therefore.

1149 8.06 - Refinancing of Municipal Bonds.

1150 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, the City Council of the City of Milford may authorize by
1151 Resolution the refinancing of existing bonds or other obligations of the City, without the necessity of a Special Election;
1152 provided that the issue of the refinancing obligations results in a present value savings to the City. Present value savings
1153 shall be determined by using the effective interest rate on the refinancing obligations as the discount rate calculated based
1154 on the internal rate of return. The ~~principle~~ principal amount of the refinancing obligations may exceed the outstanding
1155 ~~principle~~ principal amount of the obligations to be refinanced.

1156 8.07 - Short Term Borrowing.

1157 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, the City Council may authorize, by resolution, short
1158 term borrowing by the City without the necessity of a Special Election. The City of Milford may borrow money up to the
1159 amount of the annual tax billings. The borrowed money shall be for ~~one~~ 1 of the following: operating deficits, emergencies
1160 declared by City Council, and short term capital project funding. The money shall be paid back in no longer than ~~five (5)~~ 5
1161 years.

1162 **ARTICLE IX. - TAX INCREMENT FINANCING AND SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS**

1163 9.01 - Tax Increment Financing and Special Development Districts.

1164 In addition to all other powers the City of Milford may have, and notwithstanding any limitation of law, the City
1165 of Milford shall have all powers and may undertake all actions for the purposes set forth in, and in accordance with
1166 Delaware Code relating to the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Act and Delaware Code relating to Special
1167 Development Districts.

1168 9.02 - Non-Recourse

1169 Bonds are non-recourse to the City of Milford and shall only be paid from Tax Increment Financing and Special
1170 Development District [hereinafter 'TIF' and 'SDD' respectively] assessments permitted by Delaware Code. Bonds are non-
1171 recourse to property owners who purchase subject to a TIF or SDD. Property owners who purchase subject to a TIF or SDD
1172 shall only be responsible for TIF or SDD obligations determined by the individual assessment of their property.

1173 **ARTICLE X. - SEVERANCE**

1174 If any provision of this Charter is held invalid, the other provisions of the Charter shall not be affected thereby. If
1175 the application of the Charter or any of its provisions to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the application of the
1176 Charter and its provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

1177 **ARTICLE XI. - TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS**

1178 11.01 - Officers and Employees

1179 (a) Rights and Privileges Preserved. Nothing in this Charter except as otherwise specifically provided shall affect
1180 or impair the rights or privileges of persons who are City officers or employees at the time of its adoption.

1181 (b) Continuance of Officers and Employees. Except as specifically provided by this Charter, ~~if at the time this~~
1182 ~~Charter takes full effect, or any amendment thereto,~~ if a City administrative officer or employee holds any office or position
1183 which is or can be abolished by or under this Charter, or any amendment thereto, he or she shall continue in such office or
1184 position until the taking effect of some specific provision under this Charter, or any amendment thereto, directing that he or
1185 she vacates the office or position.

1186 11.02 - Departments, Offices and Agencies

1187 (a) Transfer of Powers. If a City department, office or agency is abolished by this Charter, or any amendment
1188 thereto, the powers and duties given it by law shall be transferred to the City department, office or agency designated in this
1189 Charter, or any amendment thereto, or, if the Charter, or any amendment thereto, makes no provision, as designated by the
1190 City Council.

1191 (b) Property and Records. All property, records and equipment of any department, office or agency existing when
1192 this ~~Charter~~ Charter, or any amendment thereto, is adopted shall be transferred to the department, office or agency assuming
1193 its powers and duties, but, in the event that the powers or duties are to be discontinued or divided between units or in the
1194 event that any conflict arises regarding a transfer, such property, records, or equipment shall be transferred to one or more
1195 departments, offices or agencies designated by the City Council in accordance with this
1196 ~~this Charter.~~ Charter, or any amendment thereto.

1197 11.03 - Pending Matters

1198 All rights, claims, actions, orders, contracts and legal or administrative proceedings shall continue except as
1199 modified pursuant to the provisions of this Charter, or any amendment thereto, and in each case, shall be maintained,
1200 carried on or dealt with by the City department, office or agency appropriate under this Charter, or any amendment thereto.

1201 11.04 - State and Municipal Laws.

1202 In ~~General,~~ general, all City ordinances, resolutions, orders and regulations which are in force when this Charter,
1203 or any amendment thereto, becomes fully effective are repealed to the extent that they are inconsistent or interfere with the

1204 effective operation of this ~~Charter~~ Charter, or any amendment thereto, or of ordinances or resolutions adopted pursuant
1205 thereto. To the extent that the Constitution and laws of the State of Delaware permit, all laws relating to or affecting this
1206 City or its agencies, officers or employees which are in force when this ~~Charter~~ Charter, or any amendment thereto,
1207 becomes fully effective, are superseded to the extent that they are inconsistent or interfere with the effective operation of
1208 this ~~Charter~~ Charter, or any amendment thereto, or of ordinances or resolutions adopted pursuant thereto.

1209 11.05 - Survival of Powers and Validations Sections

1210 (a) All powers conferred upon or vested in the City of Milford by any Act or Law of the State of Delaware, not in
1211 conflict with the provisions of this Charter, or any amendment thereto, are hereby expressly conferred upon and vested in
1212 the City of Milford as though herein fully set out.

1213 (b) All ordinances adopted by the City Council of the City of Milford, or which are in force for the government of
1214 the City of Milford at the time of the approval of this Charter, or any amendment thereto, are continued in force and effect
1215 as ordinances of the City of Milford until repealed, altered or amended under the provisions of this Charter, or any
1216 amendment thereto, and the acts of the City Council of the City of Milford and of the officials thereof as lawfully done or
1217 performed under the provisions of the Charter of the City of ~~Milford~~ Milford, or any amendment thereto, or ordinance
1218 thereof, or of any law of this State, prior to the approval of this Act, are hereby ratified and confirmed.

1219 (c) All taxes, fines, penalties, forfeitures, assessments or debts due the City of Milford and all debts due from the
1220 City of Milford, at the effective date of this ~~Charter~~ Charter, or any amendment thereto, shall, respectively, be deemed due
1221 to or from the City of Milford and said obligations shall severally remain unimpaired until paid, and the power, right, and
1222 authority to collect taxes imposed under the provisions of this Charter, or any amendment thereto, and the processes which
1223 may be employed for that purpose, shall be deemed to apply and extend to all unpaid taxes, assessments or charges imposed
1224 under the provisions of this Charter, or any amendment thereto, and the processes which may be employed for that purpose,
1225 shall be deemed to apply and extend to all unpaid taxes, assessments or charges imposed under the Charter of the City of
1226 ~~Milford~~ Milford, or any amendment thereto, immediately preceding the adoption of this ~~Charter~~. Charter, or any
1227 amendment thereto.

1228 (d) The bonds heretofore given by or on account of any official of the City of Milford shall not be affected or
1229 impaired by the provision of this Act but shall continue in full force for the benefit of the City of Milford.

1230 11.06 - Headings.

1231 The heading of any article, paragraph, subparagraph or section of this Charter shall be for reference purposes only
1232 and shall not be deemed to have a substantive meaning.

1233 **ARTICLE XII. - REPEALER**

1234 This Act shall operate to amend, revise and consolidate "An Act to Reincorporate the City of Milford", being
1235 Chapter 148, Volume 72, Laws of Delaware, and the several amendments and supplements thereto. The Act shall be
1236 deemed to be a public Act and the parts hereof shall be severable and, in the event any part or section hereof shall be held
1237 unconstitutional, such holding shall not in any way invalidate the remaining provisions of this Act.

SYNOPSIS

This Act amends the Milford City Charter. The changes are comprehensive in nature and designed to amend and revise many of the outdated provisions dating back to the Act reincorporating the City of Milford in 1970. Many of the changes are technical in nature, including updated terminology and re-organization. There are substantive changes to certain procedures including annexation, tax collection, voting, and vacancies. Some provisions are being removed due to their current inapplicability, such as those relating to the City Alderman. There are also changes updating the powers and authority of city officials along with new provisions relating to ethics and the code of conduct.

Author: Senator Simpson